

Perspectives

# **Fields and Forests**

**Ethnographic Perspectives** on Environmental Globalization



# SPONSORED BY THE



Federal Ministry of Education and Research **RCC** Perspectives

# **Fields and Forests**

# Ethnographic Perspectives on Environmental Globalization

Edited by Ursula Münster, Daniel Münster, and Stefan Dorondel

2012/5

# Contents

# Introduction

Daniel Münster, Ursula Münster, and Stefan Dorondel

# The State and Transnational Environmental Governance

- 13 Neoliberal Transformations of the Romanian Agrarian Landscape Stefan Dorondel
- 23 Farmers, Development, and the Temptation of Nitrogen: Controversies about Sustainable Farming in Nicaragua *Birgit Müller*
- 31 Inverted Commons: Africa's Nature in the Global Imagination Bram Büscher

# **Environmental Conflict and Resistance**

- 41 Human-Animal Conflicts in Kerala: Elephants and Ecological Modernity on the Agrarian Frontier in South India Daniel Münster and Ursula Münster
- 51 Local Effects of Global Forest Conservation Policy: On Zapotec Resistance against a Protected Natural Area *Niels Barmeyer*
- 59 Reclaiming the Seeds, Becoming "Peasants": On-Farm Agrobiodiversity Conservation and the Making of Farmers' Collective Identity Elise Demeulenaere

# **Globalizing Environments and Indigenous Practices**

- 69 Towards a Political Ecology of Scale in High Mountains Christoph Bergmann and Martin Gerwin
- 75 Tending the Emperor's Garden: Modes of Human-Nature Relations in the Cosmology of the Sateré-Mawé Indians of the Lower Amazon Wolfgang Kapfhammer
- B3 Jhum Cultivation versus New Land Use Policy: Agrarian Change and Transformation in Mizoram
  Shahnaz Kimi Leblhüber and H. Vanlalhruaia

The rights to all photos in the following essays are held by the contributing authors.

## Daniel Münster, Ursula Münster, and Stefan Dorondel

# Introduction

Around the world, fields and forests are increasingly dominated by the market, mediated by science, and subjected to new modes of transnational environmental governance. This volume of *RCC Perspectives* presents ethnographic insights into the impacts of such environmental globalization. As agriculture seeks new methods to provide for a growing population, and as forest conservation becomes more and more contested, local and indigenous communities must balance their needs and desires with the demands of a variety of external agents, from academics and bureaucrats to governments and international agribusinesses. In a context of increasing concern about climate change, deforestation, and other limitations on our global way of life, new conflicts and contestations emerge around conservation and agrarian land use. Who decides, for instance, whether communities have the right to continue "slash-and-burn" cultivation? Who decides whether communities sharing forests with wild elephants should be able to hunt or contain them? Who decides what seeds, chemicals, and technologies are used in agriculture? How are the boundaries drawn between wildlife and humans, commons and private land, forests and fields?

While they are contested in these and in similar ways, fields and forests appear in the environmental humanities and social sciences mostly as separate domains of study. Indeed, they have remained largely intact as ideal-typical (*idealtypische*) constructs, as abstract rather than concrete categories of place, despite a consensus to move beyond misleading binaries (culture and nature, wilderness and cultivation, non-agrarian and agrarian). By bringing together cutting-edge anthropological studies in the political ecology of both agrarian change and forest conservation, this special issue of *RCC Perspectives* seeks to start a conversation across these domains, showing transgressions of their boundaries by agrarian practices, commercial interests, itinerant groups, wild animals, science, capital, and states.

The contributions in this volume are ethnographic studies located on both sides of the boundary—geographical and conceptual—between fields and forests. Together they are testimony to the rich new scholarship in environmental anthropology. The papers are the outcome of a stimulating workshop held at the biannual meeting of the German Anthropological Association (DGV) in Vienna in September 2011.<sup>1</sup> At the event, a diverse group of young scholars, based in France, Germany, India, Mexico, the Netherlands, Romania, and Sweden discussed the "contested environments" of agriculture and forests. The articles, while dealing with particular case studies, share a commitment to a historical and ethnographic understanding of the contemporary environmental situation in different parts of the world. These grounded engagements with lived experiences in space and time demonstrate the permeability and malleability of the boundary between fields and forests. However, they also document its constant re-creation and reproduction in the context of state power, transnational conservation efforts, policy, law, and social movements. The comparative perspective of this set of papers, which deal with environmental realities in the Amazon, the Himalayas, southern India, southern Africa, France, Nicaragua, Romania, and Mexico, draws attention to global trends in both agrarian change and forest conservation.

Some contributions to this volume address directly the conceptual and material border-making between fields and forests, agriculture and conservation. Others engage with the issue by addressing themes that are of potential relevance to an integrated study of global environmental transformations. In our discussions during the workshop in Vienna, shared perspectives appeared that seemed useful to most of our work. First among them was a heightened awareness of the materiality of non-human agency: soils, animals, chemicals, micronutrients, and invasive species have a prominent place in our work. Secondly, most of us acknowledged the importance of science and technology, not only for understanding the material aspects mentioned above—or the technologies involved in practices like "slash-and-burn" cultivation or the placement of electric fencing at the forest boundary—but also for their role in emerging projects of environmental governance: both forests and fields are historically domains for the "rule of experts" (Mitchell 2002). Thirdly, many of our discussions were about governance, law, policy, and resistance. In many cases, state policies and governance programs trigger opposition movements or create conflicts and struggles over the control of nature, landscapes, and the resources at stake. Finally, we reflected on disciplinary moorings, as well as the contemporary relevance of agrarian/peasant studies and the political ecology of forest conservation for our anthropological work.

<sup>1</sup> The panel was generously supported by the Rachel Carson Center for Environment and Society, who provided travel grants for several participants including the editors.

Agrarian studies have been criticized for being largely cursory about ecological questions. As Sivaramakrishnan and Agrawal put it: "The desire to identify modes of production, modes of power and their attendant relations of production prevented agrarian studies from looking at the environment" (Agrawal and Sivaramakrishnan 2000, 4). Agrarian production has had a central place in historical and anthropological musings on the evolution of civilization and the emergence of industrial capitalism. The agrarian question was a question of capital and of labor (Bernstein 2006), a question of disappearing peasants and the paradoxes of class formation among owner-cultivators. But rarely was the agrarian question an environmental matter. However, a wider reading of the agrarian literature beyond the narrow circles of peasant studies may reveal a range of ecological concerns in agrarian studies. From Rachel Carson's alertness to agrochemicals in *Silent Spring* (Carson 1962), the ecological critique of the Green Revolution (Shiva 1991), and—more recently—the GMO revolution, to studies about historical food regimes (Friedmann 2005) and capitalist world ecology (Moore 2010), environmental concerns have played a pivotal role in agrarian studies.

Critical scholarship on forests has a good record of overcoming the dichotomy between wilderness and manufactured landscapes. Anthropologists have produced an extensive body of literature showing that all ecosystems have been influenced by humans for centuries (Headland 1997), and that nature is inherently cultural. Nature-culture dualisms have been deconstructed by numerous authors (Descola and Palsson 1996; Ingold 2000), and criticized as a creation of western modernity (Latour 2000). Historians have shown that forests, instead of being timeless pristine spaces of wildlife and biodiversity, are political and historical products. Forests have played a major role in imperial states (Gadgil and Guha 1992; Grove 1995; Sivaramakrishnan 1999), while high modernist scientific developments (Scott 1998) have had significant impacts on forestry and conservation land-scapes and wildlife protection have not engaged with agrarian relations, nor have they seen the forest as an important site of production.

In this issue we propose to look at forest and agricultural dynamics at the same time and in a close relation. As the contributions reveal, boundaries between forests and fields are contested, porous, and ambiguous, and deserve to be studied in their own right. In many areas of the world, there is a broad interrelation between increasingly protected forest boundaries and agriculture. In numerous settings, "agrarian frontiers" (cattle, soy beans) extend into forested areas, with ecological, social, and political consequences that reach beyond the established trends of forest clearance, decline in biodiversity, and displacement of indigenous peoples. Global deforestation, mainly through conversion of forests into agricultural land, is taking place at an alarmingly high rate—about 13 million hectares per year (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations 2010). On the other hand, authoritarian state forest conservation continues to deprive local peasants of much needed commons for use as grazing grounds or as water and wood sources.

Critical research has pointed in particular towards the politics and violence associated with the creation of natural parks and protected areas throughout the world, initiatives that have dispossessed local villagers of their lands and broken longstanding connections between villagers and the surrounding landscapes (Cronon 1996; Peluso 1992). Coercive management regimes of forest areas are justified in the name of conserving a common global good. In addition, scholars are increasingly aware of a proliferation of new forms of capitalist conservation (Arsel and Büscher 2012; Brockington et al. 2008). Such neoliberal conservation involves the creation of private parks, eco-tourism, policy innovations like payments for ecosystem services, carbon or emissions trading (including REDD and REDD+), and other possibilities for turning nature into a market-able commodity. Neoliberal forests point towards new possibilities of accumulation that, ironically, have emerged in the wake of capitalism's detrimental impact on forests and the environment.

Agriculture under the present post-World Trade Organization regime is also undergoing neoliberal transformations. These include the global process of transnational landgrabbing by which corporations accumulate sites for food and fuel production (Borras Jr. et al. 2011), the increasing corporate control of seeds and the implementation of new intellectual property regimes, and increasing insecurity for small-holders, as well as the emergence of a global food regime based on unequal access to healthy food (Friedmann 2005). Scientific and technological advances are increasingly married to corporate interests, a process that constitutes the hitherto unimaginable appropriation of the most fundamental of commons: that of life itself. The new legal regimes concerning genes, seeds, and patents run parallel to a proliferation of standards and regulations (Dunn 2005). This new form of agrarian capitalism, carried across the globe by powerful corporations, contributes in a significant way to new forms of social differentiation, and affects those who rely on their land as the single means of subsistence. Faced with a steady decline in commodity prices, competition by agribusiness, and declining state support, many farmers today find that the very "right to continue being agriculturalists" (Edelman 2005, 332) is increasingly at stake.

This collection of short articles will give readers a taste of a new environmental anthropology committed to an ethnography of the contemporary and characterized by a combination of realist critique, historical sensibility, and attention to cultural nuances.

# Bibliography

- Agrawal, Arun, and K. Sivaramakrishnan. 2000. *Agrarian Environments: Resources, Representations, and Rule in India.* Durham: Duke University Press.
- Arsel, Murat, and Bram Büscher. 2012. "Nature<sup>™</sup> Inc.: Changes and Continuities in Neoliberal Conservation and Market-Based Environmental Policy." *Development and Change* 43 (1): 53–78.
- Bernstein, Henry. 2006. "Is There an Agrarian Question in the 21st Century?" *Canadian Journal* of *Development Studies* 27 (4): 449–60.
- Brockington, Dan, Rosaleen Duffy, and Jim Igoe. 2008. *Nature Unbound: Conservation, Capitalism and the Future of Protected Areas*. London: Earthscan.
- Carson, Rachel. 1962. Silent Spring. Boston: Mariner Books.
- Cronon, William. 1996. "The Trouble with Wilderness; or, Getting Back to the Wrong Nature." In *Uncommon Ground*, edited by William Cronon, 69–90. London: W. W. Norton.
- Descola, Philippe, and Gisli Palsson, eds. 1996. *Nature and Society: Anthropological Perspectives*. London: Routledge.
- Dunn, Elizabeth. 2005. "Standards and Person-Making in East Central Europe." In *Global Assemblages: Technology, Politics, and Ethics as Anthropological Problems*, edited by Aihwa Ong and Stephen J. Collier, 173–93. Malden, MA: Blackwell.
- Edelman, Marc. 2005. "Bringing the Moral Economy Back in ... to the Study of 21st-Century Transnational Peasant Movements." *American Anthropologist* 107 (3): 331–45.

- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). 2010. "Global Forest Resources Assessment 2010: Main report." *FAO Forestry Papers* 163. Rome.
- Friedmann, Harriet. 2005. "From Colonialism to Green Capitalism: Social Movements and Emergence of Food Regimes." In *New Directions in the Sociology of Global Development*, edited by Frederick H. Buttel and Philip McMichael, 227–64. Bingley: Emerald Group.
- Gadgil, Madhav, and Ramachandra Guha. 1992. *This Fissured Land: An Ecological History of India.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Grove, Richard. 1995. Green Imperialism: Colonial Expansion, Tropical Island Edens, and the Origins of Environmentalism, 1600–1860. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Headland, Thomas. 1997. "Revisionism in Ecological Anthropology." *Current Anthropology* 38 (4): 605–30.
- Ingold, Tim. 2000. *The Perception of the Environment: Essays in Livelihood and Dwelling and Skill.* London: Routledge.
- Latour, Bruno. 2000. We Have Never Been Modern. Harlow: Pearson Education.
- Mitchell, Timothy. 2002. Rule of Experts: Egypt, Techno-Politics, Modernity. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Moore, Jason W. 2010. "The End of the Road? Agricultural Revolutions in the Capitalist World-Ecology, 1450–2010." *Journal of Agrarian Change* 10 (3): 389–413.
- Peluso, Nancy. 1992. *Rich Forests, Poor People: Resource Control and Resistance in Java.* Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Scott, James C. 1998. Seeing Like a State: How Certain Schemes to Improve the Human Condition Have Failed. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Shiva, Vandana. 1991. The Violence of the Green Revolution: Third World Agriculture, Ecology and Politics. Mapusa/Goa: The Other India Press.
- Sivaramakrishnan, K. 1999. *Modern Forests: Statemaking and Environmental Change in Colonial Eastern India*. Delhi: Oxford University Press.

The State and Transnational Environmental Governance

# Stefan Dorondel

# Neoliberal Transformations of the Romanian Agrarian Landscape<sup>1</sup>

Among other profound social and economic changes, the breakdown of the socialist regime in Romania led to fundamental land reforms. Land restitution occurred partly to redress historical injustices—land was given back to its original owners—and partly to increase economic efficiency in agriculture. State bureaucrats in charge of postsocialist land reform regarded it as a way to unmake the system of collective agriculture, to improve the land tenure system, and to increase the economic efficiency of a country that was once dubbed the "granary of Europe." The centrally designed land reform had to be implemented by the lower levels of state bureaucracy: the mayor, the secretary of the mayor's office, the agricultural officer, and the representative of the Local Inspectorate of Forests (LIF) were all empowered by the state to implement land reform at every level. However, to paraphrase an old Romanian saying, many go out for wool and come home shorn. The local bureaucrats had their own economic interests, interests that rarely coincided with those of central government. Their embeddedness in local social networks, whose interests they represented and defended, and their struggle to acquire or maintain privileges, had not been foreseen by central government (Verdery 2003).

This paper explores the unintended local outcomes of the centrally designed land reform in postsocialist Romania. I examine two strands of this story in order to understand how land reform was thwarted at a local level. First, I show villagers' local ecological responses to wider neoliberal economic changes. The return to private ownership, a tenet of both neoliberal ideology and postsocialist policies (Hann 2007), did not suddenly turn the villager into an indomitable farmer aiming to conquer the market. Rather, villagers have revived pre-collectivization agricultural practices, such as intercropping and crop diversification, in their attempts to survive the changes. Instead of increasing animal husbandry, the mountain villager has reacted by changing the emphasis of the local economy to rural tourism. Secondly, this paper argues that local state bureaucrats had the power and the incentive to affect the desired results of restitution of land and forest to pre-socialist owners. The bureaucrats have made use of this power to thwart

<sup>1</sup> This is a shortened version of the introduction to a book, tentatively titled *The Wrath of Change: State Elite, Land Politics, and the Transformation of Postsocialist Landscape in Romania.* 

#### **RCC** Perspectives

the intentions of land reform. Indeed, as I will show, such local power relations have shaped the postsocialist agrarian landscape.

Peoples' responses to neoliberal assumptions—that private property will turn the villager into a capitalist farmer producing for the market—and the local bureaucrats' struggle for privileged access to natural resources have left deep marks on the agrarian landscape. These radical changes include land fragmentation, agricultural extensification, deforestation, and the extension of built-up areas at the expense of pastures.

This paper suggests that only a comprehensive discussion of the agrarian landscape, which includes natural resources such as cultivated land, forest, orchards, and pastures, would give an account of the magnitude of postsocialist changes in rural areas. Unlike other authors working in postsocialist settings who have looked only at the socioeconomic relations (Hann 1993; Verdery 2003), I include in my analysis non-human agents such as land, trees, crops, and animals. By allocating a more central role to the non-human agents influencing human relations in postsocialist studies, I seek to add to a scarce but continuously growing body of literature (Staddon 2009; Stahl 2010).

Before proceeding with the analysis, I wish to indicate that I understand landscape as being produced through land-use practices in a certain place in a certain historical moment (Wiersum 2004, 131). Seeing landscape in this way suggests that landscape is not only a social product, a consequence of the human transformation of nature, but that it is also defined by perceptions, meanings, values, and struggles (Crosgrove 1998). While land use is a technical term defining human activities concerning the land—frequently with an economic and political emphasis—landscape is a much broader term. It incorporates the different historical meanings that people attach to their land, ranging from personal and social identity to social status, morality, and economic value (Hann 1993; Verdery 2005; Dorondel 2005). Landscape, produced by land-use practices, bears the marks of different ideologies and of state power. One example is the constitution and established functions of national protected areas throughout the world. Different groups view this land in different ways: for the state or for conservation agencies, it is an area of precious biodiversity, while for local villagers it is a space for hunting or cultivation.

Landscape is thus invested with various ideologies and becomes the arena for a political struggle between different groups (Moore 1993; Walker and Fortmann 2003). This struggle involves imposing one's view of landscape and its uses and asserting who should define how it is managed. Forests, for instance, play an essential role in determining local social dynamics. Forests have a history, interpreted in different ways by locals and the state, and a political life. Patronage relations have been built around forests, and local politics depend significantly on access to forests. Animals populating forests, such as the wild boar, play a central role in shaping the local economy. By contributing for years to the destruction of the pastures of the mountain communities, the wild boar has contributed to the steady shift to rural tourism.

#### The Worker-Peasant and the Entrepreneurial Peasant

There are two intertwined stories regarding changes in the landscape. The former concerns the villagers' reactions to neoliberal, centrally planned land reform. In this narrative, the villagers have adapted their agricultural practices to the land fragmentation. The outcome of this adaptation is the extensification of agriculture. The latter story concerns the clash of interests of the local state bureaucracy with the central planners of land reform. This clash left physical marks in the agrarian landscape by transforming the pastures into built-up areas and by initiating severe deforestation.

In order to analyze the subtle mechanisms behind the drastic changes in the landscape, I propose to conduct an ethnography of both villagers' and local bureaucrats' practices in two communes<sup>2</sup> in Walachia, Arges County (in the southern part of Romania, close to the Meridional Carpathians). One characteristic of these two communes is that villagers are not entirely dependent on agriculture: in one commune (Dragomiresti), they are worker-peasants, and in the other (Dragova), they are involved in rural tourism. The practices of worker-peasants can be seen as a way of reacting to wider economic changes, with a dynamic that differs from that of a peasant relying exclusively on land cultivation. A farmer, whether he or she produces for subsistence or for the market, will concentrate all of his or her working time on the land. The worker-peasant simply cannot afford such a luxury, since he (most people working in this industry are men) splits his working time between an industrial job and agricultural labor. The time he allocates to agricultural labor also dictates the type of crops grown by the family. A worker-peasant household must diversify the crop not only as a safety net against the weather or as risk avoidance (Scott 1976),

2 Commune is the smallest administrative unit in Romania.

#### RCC Perspectives

but also because only a limited amount of time can be invested in one single, larger crop. Cultivating and then harvesting a single crop requires intensive labor in a certain period of time, a period that, in general, a worker-peasant family does not have. Diversifying the crop provides a safety net and risk avoidance; it also spreads the agricultural labor over a longer period of time.

All of these constraints have a serious impact on the type of crop that is cultivated, which in turn influences the economy of the household. The collective socialist farms used machines and cultivated seeds that had been industrially produced in agrochemical laboratories so as to resist different corn diseases. Postsocialist villagers can no longer afford to continue such practices. They cultivate the seeds that are selected from their previous crop, seeds that are more vulnerable to diseases and pests. The overall production per hectare has thus dramatically decreased and has further contributed to the reluctance to buy new land.

The steep slopes surrounding Dragova and the altitude of the village make it impossible to grow crops. Animal husbandry—the traditional economy of the commune was therefore maintained under socialism. Villagers owned their pastures throughout the socialist period and earned their living by selling dairy produce and meat on the legal socialist market. Often, they also sold their dairy produce illegally in the socialist enterprises in nearby cities through family members working there. I name this villager the "entrepreneurial peasant." The worker-peasant and the entrepreneurial peasant each have particular ways of dealing with the land. The different ecological environments, socioeconomic conditions, and socialist histories have conditioned the antagonistic responses of both villagers and local state officials to land reform.

### Land Reform, Land Fragmentation, and Agricultural Extensification

The postsocialist land reform led to the breaking up of the collective farms and to land restitution. One of the outcomes was land fragmentation. Anyone travelling today in the rural areas of Romania would notice the highly fragmented land. Although in some parts of Romania (especially in the lowland villages) people joined new land associations (Verdery 2003), in the hilly region landowners preferred to work their crops, pastures, and orchards independently.



Figure 1: Land fragmentation in Dragomiresti, Romania.

Land reform was an attempt on the part of the postsocialist governments to impose new meanings and new values regarding land on local people, along with a new economic language in accordance with neoliberal tenets (Hann 2007). It was part of a plan to completely reorganize socialist societies, including the people, economies, and landscapes within them, and to transform them into something radically different. Postsocialist economic reforms were often neoliberal policies, enacted by the national government but promoted by international financial institutions (Schwegler 2008).

The reaction of villagers who had recently emerged from a socialist society to these rapid changes was not the reaction expected by central governments and their Western supervisors. Instead of transforming themselves into ferocious capitalist farmers, the worker-peasants rediscovered pre-collectivization agricultural practices. The collective farm aimed to cultivate a small number of crops intensively, following the supreme aim of the socialist government to not only achieve national food sovereignty but also to export agricultural products. Postsocialist landowners had a different aim and different means of achieving it. The worker-peasant adapted fairly well to the land fragmentation by diversifying the crops, by reintroducing the intercropping of corn,

#### **RCC** Perspectives

beans, and pumpkin (*Curcubita pepo*), and by shifting to the type of plums suitable to make *tuica* (plum brandy), instead of those that could be sold on the market for immediate consumption. The worker-peasant had less capital, less time, and less interest in maintaining intensive cropping. In other words, farmers opted for agricultural extensification.

The land reform outcome was very different from the one expected by the central planners: villagers resisted by appealing to local knowledge and practices that they believed to be better suited their interests. I thus suggest that villagers did not simply resist the neoliberal governmental plans but also found their own way of dealing with them. Some rediscovered prewar agricultural practices, while others—the villagers of Dragova, for instance—turned to new domains of activity, such as rural tourism.

# Local State Bureaucracy, the Postsocialist Elite, and Landscape

In postsocialist Romania, the local state is composed of two types of state officials. One type, which I call the local bureaucracy, includes policemen, forest quards, and employees of the mayor's office. They are appointed by higher-level state bureaucrats, who hold them accountable. For instance, the local police officers have their superiors in the county capital and are accountable to them. They are not accountable to villagers. State forest guards are appointed by and accountable to their superiors from the Local Inspectorate of Forestry (LIF). The chiefs of the LIF are politically appointed, and they are accountable to the employees from ROMSILVA, the National Forest Administration. ROMSILVA's high bureaucrats are also politically appointed. All of these bureaucrats therefore depend on the party in power. Postsocialist politics and politicians represent a crucial element in understanding the impact of the state on the agrarian landscape. The local government members and the mayor represent a second body of institutions. They are elected and should be accountable to the villagers. However, accountability is a Western notion that is barely applicable in non-Western locations. For instance, the accountant from the mayor's office, who was undoubtedly involved in illegal deforestation in Dragomiresti, was charged by the prosecutor's office, yet despite these legal issues in 2004 he was elected as mayor of the commune in 2008.

Looking at the interaction between local state officials and villagers makes several things clear. One is that, although this is an unbalanced power relation, it is still one in which

both parties have agency. In response to the state's formal prohibition on tree-felling, villagers engaged in illegal logging. In response to the state's ban on grazing within the national park, villagers brought more animals onto the pastures. In response to the state's claim over forest management rights, villagers emphasized their historical rights. "Is this my forest or not? If this is my forest, then the state has no business imposing regulations," is a claim that one often hears in the two communes where I carried out fieldwork.



Figure 2: Construction of houses in Dragomiresti.

One of the outcomes of the local elite's takeover of the state in rural postsocialist countries is the institution of patron-client relationships.<sup>3</sup> The patron-client relationship left deep marks on the local landscape in Romania. The transformations of the pasture into built-up areas and the severe deforestation represent the biophysical embodiment of such social relations. These visible marks have been triggered in each commune by different social mechanisms, and they have different social meanings. In Dragomi-

<sup>3</sup> I define this relationship as an exchange of services between two parties: the patron ensures protection and provides guaranteed work for the client; the client ensures a flow of services for the patron, such as cheap labor and goods (Scott 1976). The core of this relationship is a disequilibrium with regards to the bargaining powers of the patron and the client in favor of the patron (Littlewood 1980).

#### **RCC** Perspectives

resti, communal pastures have been transformed into built-up areas by a marginalized ethnic group involved in patron-client relations with local state officials: the pastures were an informal "gift" made by local state officials to illegal loggers, in return for their providing cheap labor and for contributing to the enrichment of bureaucrats. In Dragova, the transformation of pastures into built-up areas was triggered by the boom in rural tourism in the period following the breakdown of the socialist regime. Beautiful mountainous scenery, the caves, and the possibility of tasting the famous locally produced smoked cheese attracted a significant number of visitors. Building new guesthouses (*"pensiuni"*) was made possible by the influx of tourists into the commune, and the local state officials were the first to build.



Figure 3: Deforestation in Dragomiresti.

> Deforestation is an even more visible and more dramatic consequence of patron-client relations. The dismantling of the socialist government, the decentralization of administrative decisions, and forest restitution were steps that transformed forests into a gold mine just waiting to be exploited. Local state bureaucrats, such as mayors, forest guards, and police officers, increased their power and their chances of getting rich. The liberalization of the timber market has given an added incentive to those keen to exploit the forest. All these factors contributed to the production of a forestless landscape.

Such examples are evidence of a state that is very present in people's lives and whose actions directly shape the landscape. I therefore seek to give more credit to an idea that is opposed to what some authors describe as a "distant state" (Bierschenk and Olivier de Sardan 1997) or the "absence of the state" at the local level (Stahl 2010). In Romania, the state has not only conditioned the behavior of farmers and landowners through its decisions, but has intervened at every level, often in ways that conflict with the edicts of central government. The consequences in Romania have been stark: land fragmentation, deforestation, and a transformation of the role of worker-peasants within the neoliberal environment.

# Bibliography

- Bierschenk, Thomas, and Jean-Pierre Olivier de Serdan. 1997. "Local Powers and a Distant State in Rural Central African Republic." *The Journal of Modern African Studies* 35 (3): 441–68.
- Crosgrove, Denis E. 1998 [1984]. *Social Formation and Symbolic Landscape*. Madison: The University of Wisconsin Press.
- Dorondel, Stefan. 2005. "Land, Property, and Access in a Village from Postsocialist Romania." In *Between East and West: Studies in Anthropology and Social History*, edited by Stefan Dorondel and Stelu Serban, 268–307. Bucuresti: Editura Institutului Cultural Roman.
- Hann, Chris M. 1993. "From Production to Property: Decollectivization and the Family-Land Relationship in Contemporary Hungary." *Man* (N.S) 28: 299–320.
- -------. 2007. "A New Double Movement? Anthropological Perspectives on Property in the Age of Neoliberalism." *Socio-Economic Review* 5: 287–318.
- Littlewood, Paul. 1980. "Patronage, Ideology, and Reproduction." Critique of Anthropology 15: 29-45.
- Moore, Donald S. 1993. "Contesting Terrain in Zimbabwe's Eastern Highlands: Political Ecology, Ethnography, and Peasant Resource Struggles." *Economic Geography* 69: 380–401.
- ———. 1998. Seeing Like a State: How Certain Schemes to Improve the Human Condition Have Failed. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Schwegler, Tara A. 2008. "Take It From the Top (Down)? Rethinking Neoliberalism and Political Hierarchy in Mexico." *American Ethnologist* 35 (4): 682–700.

- Scott, James C. 1976. *The Moral Economy of the Peasant: Rebellion and Subsistence in Southeast Asia*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- . 1977. "Patronage or Exploitation?" In *Patrons and Clients in Mediterranean Societies*, edited by Ernest Gellner and John Waterbury, 21–39. London: Duckwort.
- Staddon, Chad. 2009. "Towards a Critical Political Ecology of Human-Forest Interactions: Collecting Herbs and Mushrooms in a Bulgarian Locality." *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 34: 161–76.
- Stahl, Johannes. 2010. Rent from the Land: The Political Ecology of Postsocialist Rural Transformation. London: Anthem Press.
- Verdery, Katherine. 2003. *The Vanishing Hectare: Property and Value in Postsocialist Transylvania*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- ———. 2005. "'Possessive Identities' in Post-Socialist Transylvania." In *Between East and West: Studies in Anthropology and Social History*, edited by Stefan Dorondel and Stelu Serban, 341– 66. Bucharest: Editura Institutului Cultural Roman.
- Walker, Peter, and Louise Fortmann. 2003. "Whose Landscape? A Political Ecology of the 'Exurban' Sierra" *Cultural Geographies* 10: 469–91.
- Wiersum, K. F. 2004. "Forest Gardens and an Intermediate' Land-Use System in the Nature-Culture Continuum: Characteristics and Future Potential." Agroforestry Systems 61: 123–34.

Birgit Müller

# Farmers, Development, and the Temptation of Nitrogen: Controversies about Sustainable Farming in Nicaragua

Agrarian development is a controversial issue in the Nicaraguan countryside. The state, international organizations, churches, and NGOs all attempt to intervene in the practices and worldviews of small farmers to make them attain a supposedly higher level of organization and efficiency. Implicit is the idea that *progress* has to be made in farming practices, which is measured first and foremost in yield per hectare. As the population increases (in Nicaragua it doubled between 1980 and 2006) more food has to be produced to feed the growing population in the cities and in the countryside. The increase in population has been compensated over the last thirty years by a doubling of the area of cultivated land, but the expansion of the agrarian frontier cannot continue indefinitely. Although all intervening organizations agree that farming practices have to change to produce more crops per hectare, there are controversies about the direction such a change should take.

The two developmental approaches to agriculture that stand in apparent opposition to each other could be characterized as "Green Revolution" technology and "agroecology."<sup>1</sup> While green revolution technology—and recently, by extension, biotechnology—still dominates development projects and receives the bulk of development funding, agroecology has achieved a prominent role in the global environmental discourse, entering the mainstream with the publication of the International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development (IAASTD) report in 2008. The argument that has reinforced the general acceptance of the agroecology discourse is that an agriculture based on non-renewable fossil resources is unsustainable in the medium and long term and will be unable to feed a still growing human population.

The ideas that underlie this current of thought stem from nineteenth-century theories of thermodynamics. Podolinsky (Hall et al. 1986) demonstrated during this period that

<sup>1 &</sup>quot;Green Revolution" techniques, introduced between the 1940s and the late 1970s, rely heavily on chemical fertilizers, herbicides, and pesticides. Some of these must be developed from fossil fuels, making agriculture increasingly reliant on petroleum products and on purchased inputs not available on-farm. "Agroecology" is concerned with the maintenance of a productive agriculture that sustains yields and optimizes the use of local resources and nutrient cycles. It thereby seeks to minimize the use of fossil resources and the negative environmental and socioeconomic impacts of modern technologies.

agriculture was based on a positive energy balance of at least 1:5 (one unit of energy invested by the farmer in the land could bind five units of solar energy into the plant). As Marcel Mazoyer and Laurence Roudart (1997) showed in their *History of World Agriculture*, the nineteenth-century energy balance was the result of a constant, not-quite-linear learning process that required much attention, work, and creativity, and in which the state intervened, regulating and extracting. Often farmers exploited the land until it became infertile, and only returned to reclaim the land after centuries had passed in order to use new methods, with a new attention to the soil and different seeds. What the farmers had to learn over the millennia, as populations grew, was how to maintain the fertility of the soil while it was farmed with increasing intensity.

This changed with the use of chemical fertilizers, pesticides, agricultural machinery, and the development of crops that were able to transform the supply of chemical fertilizer into higher yields. The criteria for selecting seeds changed. Farmers now no longer selected a wide range of varieties that could adapt to different soils, withstand drought or a lot of rain, and were resistant to fungal diseases; instead, with the addition of chemicals, the growing conditions were adapted to a few varieties of highly productive but vulnerable crops. Today, as Pimentel and others (Haberl et al. 2011) have shown, the energy balance in agriculture is often negative: more energy is supplied than the plants can absorb. In addition, the nutrient balance of soils is negative. At present the food system converts non-renewable fossil resources into food, and thereby continuously diffuses energy. For every calorie of food we consume in the West, we use ten calories on transport, packaging, and so on.

The Northern and Southern Hemispheres use different amounts of energy. Southern farmers use much less energy to produce their crops, and many of the industrial crops produced with large amounts of fossil energy in the South are exported to the North. As Hornborg (2001) has shown, energy use constitutes one of the most extreme measures of global inequality. It may sound hypocritical, then, if NGOs from the Northern Hemisphere incite Nicaraguan farmers to pursue organic farming, foregoing the use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides produced with fossil resources.

In this article I analyze how the different agricultural development discourses and the programs and projects attached to them play out in the actual practice of farming. What

kinds of interventions take place in their name? To what strategies do they give rise? Farmers confronted with these different development logics take different decisions; I show to what extent their decisions are linked to global policy making and historical configurations. I also show that, in spite of the overwhelming financial power of certain development projects, farmers create and sustain their own strategies for their land.

# **Recent Nicaraguan Agricultural Policy**

A brief account of Nicaraguan agricultural policy-making over the last thirty-five years shows to what extent the agricultural practices that were promoted are inextricably linked to the political priorities of the governments in place. The Somoza period that ended with the Sandinista Revolution of 1979 was characterized by a traditional system of land tenure: land was concentrated in a few hands, and strong personal relationships prevailed between cattle-owning landowners and tenants. The tenants cultivated the land that the owners wanted to transform into pasture, with very little external input. The Sandinistas brought the Agrarian Reform and the Green Revolution to Nicaragua, and they heavily subsidized the use of Green Revolution plant varieties, fertilizers, and pesticides on the land they had distributed.

By the time the Sandinistas lost the elections in 1990, small farmers had become accustomed to taking out credit to finance the chemicals they now routinely used on their crops. However, the neoliberal governments that stayed in power until January 2007 insisted that the debts be repaid. Many small farmers lost their land and cattle. The debt crisis encouraged the spread of farmers' associations such as *De Campesino a Campesino*, where farmers exchanged experiences and agroecological cultivation techniques. They have used local resources and soil conservation techniques from all over the world to increase the fertility of their land. Building terraces, dikes, and water retention systems, and using green manure and compost on the land was time-consuming and was not immediately rewarded by an increase in yield. These techniques were adopted by small development NGOs, who tried to make them mandatory for any farmers who wanted to take advantage of their projects.

In 2007, when Daniel Ortega became president, government policies towards small farmers changed again. The Sandinistas attempted to capitalize on the countryside: they distributed cows to thousands of rural women and encouraged the production of basic foodstuffs for export to Venezuela in a barter deal between Chavez and Ortega, where oil was exchanged for food. With the financial crisis in the USA, rising tensions with migrant Nicaraguan workers in Costa Rica, and the closing of maquiladoras (manufacturing operations in free trade zones) in Nicaragua, 2008 and 2009 saw the return to the countryside of many young Nicaraguans who were unable to feed themselves in the cities and abroad. Programs and projects that promoted the preservation of traditional seed varieties and insisted on soil preservation acquired new prominence all over the country. In 2010, however, the European Union (EU), in conjunction with the FAO, distributed large amounts of chemical fertilizers and Green Revolution seed varieties to the poorest parts of the country. In 2011, just before the next election, the Sandinista government promoted the CRISOL program, which distributed fertilizers and Green Revolution varieties on a credit basis in exchange for basic grains.

### The Impact of Agricultural Politics on Nicaraguan Farmers

While the indifference of the government towards small-scale farming seems to favor agroecological production methods, governments on the municipal and national level gain in popularity if they distribute chemical fertilizer. How does this impact the actual practices of Nicaraguan farmers?

During my fieldwork from April to November 2009 in La Quebrada, a village in the hilly and relatively dry part of Carazo, I frequently heard farmers insist that production techniques have to be changed to preserve the land for future generations. Few chemical fertilizers were distributed for free and many mouths had to be fed due to the worldwide economic crisis. Some villagers told me diffidently that the economic crisis was out there and affected the rich countries. As they did not have anything, they also did not have anything to lose. The older farmers seemed more glad than worried to see some of their children return to the land. Some farmers explained to me that chemical fertilizers used in the past had burned the land, together with the still frequent practice of burning the residue of fallow land before cultivation. They explained that slash-and-burn cycles had become increasingly shorter as, with more and more people living there, the land became eroded and tired. "Don't burn the land!" (*No quema!*) became a common slogan, even receiving legal backing from national and municipal governments. In 2009, some farmers used the then-available family labor to weed the

crops instead of buying herbicides, and became interested once more in techniques of green manuring that had been introduced twenty years earlier by associations close to the movement of *Campesino a Campesino*. Additionally, traditional varieties of maize and beans gained new prominence, and a small but active minority of farmers decided to exchange their traditional varieties of maize and beans and create a seed bank.





In 2010 and 2011, the situation and also the discourse had changed considerably. The cooperative of La Quebrada, which had been set up by ten villagers in 2007 but had lain largely dormant since then, became the center selected by the FAO to administrate the EU-financed "Food Facility" program.<sup>2</sup> It distributed hundreds of quintals<sup>3</sup> (ql) of fertilizer to the farmers in the village and in surrounding ones at an extremely reduced price. The same farmers who had been active in creating a seed bank for traditional

<sup>2 &</sup>quot;Food Facility" was an aid program worth 1 billion euros. It was instituted by the European Parliament in 2008 during the world food crisis to help poor farmers all over the world to boost production by using Green Revolution varieties and fertilizers. The FAO became the broker for the program.

<sup>3</sup> A Nicaraguan quintal is 45.36 kilograms.

#### RCC Perspectives

varieties and had been interested in green manuring were now busy distributing fertilizer and Green Revolution varieties, and had withdrawn from the activities of the more agroecologically minded group of farmers.

Were these farmers thus nothing but the playthings of these different conjunctures and interventions, with no strong ecological convictions of their own, adjusting their behavior to the opportunities that opened up for them? Many farmers who could not fall back on unpaid family labor and who had to pay farm hands explained that spraying herbicides was certainly not good for the soil but was much cheaper than the cost of labor. When their children returned to the city (thus no longer helping in the fields and sending money instead), they returned to using herbicides. Further, nitrogen and other fertilizers, which were freely available, were hard to refuse, as they translated, if the conditions were right—that is, if the rains occurred at the right time—into a higher yield. To return fertility to land that was more intensively used, to feed the soil (and not only the plant) without chemicals, was a long-term project requiring work that many farmers were unable or unwilling to do. The temptation of nitrogen was hard to resist.

However, even when the farmers were swamped by the FAO project with freely available chemical fertilizers, not all of them took the offered package of Green Revolution varieties and chemical fertilizer at first. Some told me that in 2010 they had seeded fertile ground that had not required nitrogen. Others took it and then sold it for a decent price. Others again used the chemical fertilizers but gave away the Green Revolution varieties, and used the fertilizer on their traditional seed varieties.

The FAO-EU project ended after only two years, but was immediately followed by the government's CRISOL program. This program drew the farmers into a debt spiral, offering them a credit of \$120–200 to buy fertilizer and to pay labor for their fields, a credit that had to be paid back in kind with the crop. In the first harvest period of 2011, the credit of \$120 for corn had to be paid back with eight ql of corn. This was almost the amount that farmers would usually sell at harvest time. Now they had spent this money in advance in the hope of a much better harvest: wild speculations and calculations circulated. With the use of chemical fertilizers they hoped to harvest 40 ql per manzana,<sup>4</sup> instead of 25 ql. However, the 40 ql never materialized; the debt remained, and the farmers were obliged to sell more than they usually would.

4 One manzana is approximately 0.6 hectares.

In conclusion, small farmers in Nicaragua are not simply the playthings of different development programs. They follow their own strategies, but the constraints they are under should not be overlooked. Only a tiny minority of Nicaraguan farmers would refuse to use chemicals on principle. Many try to get by with as little as possible, and others would use the full cocktail of what is available if they had the financial means. To practice a different type of agriculture requires a huge amount of extra work to build stone walls, work with green manure, and so on. Farmers only invest in this way if they take a long-term view—if they can envision their children taking over the farm and offering their help, with financial support from government programs that are consistent and of a longer duration than most of the ecological development programs. The direction of agricultural change is strongly influenced by local politics but also by international politics, financial markets, prices, and a will to change, which cannot be just the goodwill of the supposed steward of the land, the farmer.

#### Bibliography

- Haberl, Helmut, Marina Fischer-Kowalski, Fridolin Krausmann, Joan Martinez-Alier, and Verena Winiwarter. 2011. "A Socio-Metabolic Transition towards Sustainability? Challenges for Another Great Transformation." Sustainable Development 19: 1–14.
- Hall, Charles A. S., Cutler J. Cleveland, and Robert K. Kaufmann, eds. 1986. *Energy and Resource Quality: The Ecology of the Economic Process*. New York: Wiley Interscience.
- Hornborg, Alf. 2001. *The Power of the Machine: Global Inequalities of Economy, Technology and Environment*. Walnut Creek: AltaMira Press.
- IAASTD. 2008. International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development (IAASTD): Global Report. Washington: Island Press.
- Lüdtke, Alf. 1997. "Alltagsgeschichte: Aneignung und Akteure—Oder es hat noch kaum begonnen." Werkstatt Geschichte 17: 82–92.
- Mazoyer, Marcel, and Laurence Roudart. 1997. *Histoire des agricultures du monde: Du néolithique à la crise contemporaine.* Paris: Éditions du Seuil.

# Bram Büscher

# Inverted Commons: Africa's Nature in the Global Imagination<sup>1</sup>

Nature in Africa has long occupied a special place in the global imagination: the prevailing images associated with the continent are of a "wild Eden," of rugged, "pristine" landscapes, and of some of the world's most charismatic "megafauna" (elephants, gorillas, rhinos, etc.) (Adams and McShane 1996). Indeed, whereas references to Africa's people are often negative and associated with war, poverty, and famine (Dowden 2008), Africa's nature is habitually framed in positive terms: nature as it "should be," "unspoiled" and "pure." Thus, when the famous Virgin millionaire entrepreneur Richard Branson asks the question "What is Africa?" there seems to be no irony in his answer, "Africa is its animals. That is the beauty of Africa, that's what makes it different from the rest of the world. And to lose those animals would be catastrophic." Branson lays the blame for "dwindling wildlife numbers" squarely on "Africa's increasing (human) populations," and argues that Africa should "increase the amount of land for the animals and by increasing the amount of land for the animals, that will help human beings."<sup>2</sup>

The purpose of this short piece is to argue that nature and natural resources in Africa are framed as "inverted commons": a special commons that belongs to the entire globe, but for which only Africans pay the real price in terms of their conservation. Updating and extending Ton Dietz's earlier argument about entitlements to natural resources (Dietz 1996), I argue that this happens in two crucial ways. First, a variety of conservation actors, particularly from the West, *actively frame* Africa's nature as a global commons that deserves protection for all of humanity. Second, the practical manifestation of this tactic increasingly revolves around "neoliberal conservation": reinterpreting and re-institutionalizing African natures within ideologies of power and systems of rule dependent on market competition, commoditization, and intensified capital accumulation (Sullivan 2006, 2009; Igoe and Brockington 2007; Brockington et al. 2008; Igoe 2010; Büscher 2010a, 2010b; Fletcher 2010; Arsel and Büscher 2012). As there is no space to develop these arguments in depth, I will present one example—that of the Serengeti—followed by a brief discussion and conclusion.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> This piece is a summary of my article, "The Neoliberalisation of Nature in Africa," in *New Topographies of Power? Africa Negotiating an Emerging Multi-polar World*, ed. Ton Dietz et al. (Leiden: Brill, 2011), 84–109.

<sup>2 &</sup>quot;The Elephant Corridor," Pifworld, accessed 7 February 2011, http://www.pifworld.com/#/projects/TheElephantCorridor/61.

<sup>3</sup> I refer the interested reader to Büscher (2011), where the argument is worked out in full.

# The Serengeti: Threats to an "African Eden"

As David Hughes recently argued (2010, 133), "contemporary conservation dabbles in nostalgia for the colonial past [and] continues to produce the aesthetics, symbols, and fables of white privilege." This is particularly true for tourism to the African continent (Dunn 2004; Duffy 2010), which in its marketing and advertising often ends up perpetuating stereotypes of African nature as devoid of people and reinforcing the "aesthetics, symbols, and fables of white privilege." It very rarely, if ever, works to upset these symbols and fables, because they involve major capital flows and international investments that few African governments are willing to forego. Nevertheless, they are occasionally challenged, and African "Edens" come under "threat" from African desires to use land and resources differently. When this happens, there is frequently a global outcry, largely from white Westerners. One such prominent occasion recently was the international debate that erupted after the Tanzanian government proposed to construct a highway through its Serengeti National Park.

The Serengeti is one of the best-known symbols of "Africa's wild nature," and its wildebeest migration figures prominently in global conservation imaginations. Thus, in July 2010, when the Tanzanian government followed up on an earlier election promise to construct a highway through the northern part of the park, it triggered a massive global outcry. International (mainly Western) audiences resisted in numerous ways, showing that African nature is not only important in the global imagination, but is also seen as something that belongs to the entire globe and over which Africans have only partial sovereignty (Mbembe 2001). As the outpouring was truly prodigious, I present only some of the major initiatives.

• An internet site was established (http://www.savetheserengeti.org/), stating that "this ill-conceived project changes all the rules, and would destroy the integrity of a priceless world heritage that has been protected by the people of Tanzania since the birth of their country. It would also cause grave danger to their entire tourist industry." Like Richard Branson, the website organizers blame population growth: "Areas to the west of the Serengeti are already heavily populated. A highway will add even more human population and development."

- An online petition was organized, urging readers to send Tanzanian President Kikwete an email that ends as follows: "The world is watching and expecting good governance, and for you to find a way to preserve your great country's natural inheritance and future potential for advancement."<sup>4</sup> Of the 248,500 signatories, the vast majority are from North America or Europe, with hardly any signatories from African countries.
- A major survey was carried out, involving "302 international scientists from 32 countries,"<sup>5</sup> which concludes that "the road will result in severe, negative, irreversible impacts, with little mitigation possible." Again, the vast majority of signatories are from Western countries. (Those that profess to be from African countries are mainly Westerners that live and work in Africa, or white South Africans.)
- A Facebook group called "Stop the Serengeti Highway" was established, with over 46,500 "friends" as of June 2012.<sup>6</sup>
- Twenty-four scientists, led by Western conservationists/biologists, published an article in *Nature* entitled "Road will Ruin Serengeti." They write that "the proposed road could lead to the collapse of the largest remaining migratory system on Earth a system that drives Tanzania's tourism trade and supports thousands of people." They ask the Tanzanian government to "*explicitly acknowledge and conserve the global benefits* of preserving the Serengeti National Park, one of the world's natural wonders and one of Africa's last surviving pristine ecosystems"<sup>7</sup> (italics added).

In all, considerable pressure has been placed on the Tanzanian government to rethink the road, with even UNESCO threatening to take the Serengeti off of the World Heritage

- 5 "Environmental Impact Statement: Effects on the Ecology and Wildlife of a Proposed Commercial Route through the Serengeti National Park," accessed 8 December 2010, http://www.savetheserengeti.org/wpcontent/uploads/2010/10/SENAPA\_ENV\_IMPACT\_10\_3.pdf.
- 6 Accessed 20 June 2012, http://www.facebook.com/pages/STOP-THE-SERENGETI-HIGH-WAY/125601617471610.
- 7 Andrew Dobson et al., *Nature* 467: 272–73. See also: Katherine Homewood, Daniel Brockington, and Sian Sullivan, "Alternative view of Serengeti road," *Nature* 467: 788–789.

<sup>4 &</sup>quot;Action Alert: Tanzania's Proposed Serengeti Highway Threatens Greatest Wildlife Migration on Earth," Forests.org, accessed 8 December 2010, http://forests.org/sharend/alerts/sendsm.aspx?id=tanzania\_serengeti. See also the update "World Scientists Petition for Alternate Highway / Warn of Dangers," Bwana, Serengeti Watch, accessed 27 December 2010, http://www.savetheserengeti.org/news/highway-news/ world-scientists-petition-for-alternate-highwaywarn-of-dangers/.

List if the plan continues.<sup>8</sup> While the above is only the tip of the iceberg, and while the debate is ongoing and contains diverse viewpoints, it is clearly driven by Western conservationists and often harks back to well-trodden neocolonial arguments about wildlife and local population growth. Few direct links are made to the Western consumerism that is partly responsible for the road (it will be used to transport rare-earth metals more rapidly from Lake Victoria to the coast for production in China). At the same time, there is hardly any mention of how the Serengeti was produced by evicting Masaai from the area during colonial times and how, consequently, the Serengeti is anything but "natur-al" or pristine. What is particularly salient is that many of the conservationists and their supporters feel a sense of "entitlement" to the Serengeti (Dietz 1996), or, as I put it, frame the Serengeti as an "inverted commons"—a commons that surpasses Tanzanian jurisdiction, and whose value can seemingly be appreciated only by outsiders.

## Inverted Commons and the Neoliberalization of Africa's Nature

International outbursts over African nature, like the one around the Serengeti highway, are rare. African conservation politics, heated though it is, seldom attracts international headlines. However, many of the same emotions, arguments, and political strategies play a role in day-to-day conservation, involving thousands of different actors across hundreds of sites all across the continent. While this diversity precludes absolute generalizations, I argue that one major common dynamic can be identified: many conservation strategies increasingly depend on the neoliberalization of nature. Under global neoliberal restructuring since the 1980s, conservation in Africa has progressively focused on ways for wildlife and "nature" to "pay their way," so that local and global communities can benefit from their sustained conservation. "Imposing wilderness"—as Neumann (1998) referred to it—persists, albeit no longer through colonial force but through "the market." So-called neoliberal conservation has become the new mantra for global conservation, triggering new challenges for Africa.

Through strategies such as the commercialization of the management of parks, ecotourism, payments for ecosystem services, carbon trade, and REDD (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation), Africa's nature has been increasingly

<sup>8 &</sup>quot;Serengeti faces axe from heritage body," Lucas Liganga, *The Citizen*, accessed 8 December 2010, http:// www.thecitizen.co.tz/component/content/article/37-tanzania-top-news-story/4220-serengeti-faces-axefrom-heritage-body.html.

reconstituted in neoliberal terms.<sup>9</sup> While this neoliberalization of nature (conservation) in Africa is variegated, profoundly uneven, and never linear, I argue that, on the whole, this process constitutes a sea change in the relations between Africans and their biodiversity and wildlife—one that will have massive implications for both. Yet, as I argue above and elaborate on in Büscher (2011), Africa's nature is being commodified through a rhetorical strategy that I refer to as "inverted commons": the discursive creation of a common resource whose global ecological, political, and emotional importance trumps the desires and rights of local African actors. This tactic is cynical, particularly given how African rights and desires have been and continue to be violated (Mbembe, 2001). Moreover, the framing is ironic in that "inverted commons" statements about Africa's nature do not say under what type of regimes these are governed. When these governance regimes are increasingly neoliberal, they function further to wrest control of African ecosystems and wildlife from Africans themselves, as African nature—the global commons—is increasingly sold to Western, white investors.

While this framing makes it very difficult to negotiate or challenge the neoliberalization of nature in Africa, I want to conclude here by emphasizing that notions of "inverted commons" can be deflated quickly when the argument is turned around. While doing fieldwork in Zimbabwe, I once heard a Zimbabwean colleague comment that if—in this case—Dutch people were so concerned with African elephants and wanted to conserve them so badly, then Zimbabwe could put all their elephants on several mega-ships and transport them to Rotterdam harbor, adding they would do this "free of charge." Dutch people could then do with them whatever they wanted. These types of reversals bring the message home quite vividly: the pressure put on African actors to conserve their wildlife and biodiversity often omits the role of outside actors in these pressures and the hardship local Africans have to endure while living with (often dangerous) wildlife. It is time to put the spotlight back where it belongs.

9 Here defined as a political ideology (plus related practices) that attempts to subordinate social and political affairs to capitalist market dynamics.

### Bibliography

- Adams, Jonathan S., and Thomas O. McShane. 1996. *The Myth of Wild Africa: Conservation Without Illusion*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Arsel, Murat, and Bram Büscher. 2012. "Nature™ Inc: Changes and Continuities in Neoliberal Conservation and Environmental Markets." *Development and Change* 43 (1): 53–78.
- Brockington, Dan, Rosaleen Duffy, and Jim Igoe. 2008. *Nature Unbound: Conservation, Capitalism and the Future of Protected Areas.* London: Earthscan.

------. 2010. "Capitalism and Conservation: The Production and Reproduction of Biodiversity Conservation." *Antipode* 42 (3): 469–84.

Büscher, Bram. 2010a. "Seeking Telos in the 'Transfrontier': Neoliberalism and the Transcending of Community Conservation in Southern Africa." *Environment and Planning A* 42 (3): 644–60.

— 2010b. "Derivative Nature: Interrogating the Value of Conservation in 'Boundless Southern Africa'." *Third World Quarterly* 31 (2): 259–76.

- Dietz, Ton. 1996. Entitlements to Natural Resources: Contours of Political Environmental Geography. Utrecht: International Books.
- Dowden, Richard. 2008. Africa: Altered States, Ordinary Miracles. London: Portobello.
- Duffy, Rosaleen. 2010. Nature Crime: How We're Getting Conservation Wrong. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Duffy, Rosaleen, and Lorraine Moore. 2010. "Neoliberalising Nature? Elephant-Back Tourism in Thailand and Botswana." *Antipode* 42 (3): 742–66.
- Dunn, Kevin C. 2004. "Fear of a Black Planet: Anarchy Anxieties and Postcolonial Travel to Africa." Third World Quarterly 25: 483–99.
- Fletcher, Robert. 2010. "Neoliberal Environmentality: Towards a Poststructural Political Ecology of the Conservation Debate." *Conservation and Society* 8 (3): 171–81.

- Hughes, David M. 2010. *Whiteness in Zimbabwe: Race, Landscape, and the Problem of Belonging.* New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Igoe, Jim. 2010. "The Spectacle of Nature in the Global Economy of Appearances: Anthropological Engagements with the Images of Transnational Conservation." *Critique of Anthropology* 30 (4): 375–97.
- Igoe, Jim, and Dan Brockington. 2007. "Neoliberal Conservation: a Brief Introduction." *Conservation and Society* 5 (4): 432–49.
- Mbembe, Achille. 2001. On the Postcolony. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Neumann, Roderick P. 1998. *Imposing Wilderness: Struggles over Livelihoods and Nature Pre*servation in Africa. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Sullivan, Sian. 2006. "The Elephant in the Room? Problematising 'New' (Neoliberal) Biodiversity Conservation." *Forum for Development Studies* 12 (1): 105–35.
- ———. 2009. "Green Capitalism, and the Cultural Poverty of Constructing Nature as Service Provider." *Radical Anthropology* 3: 18–27.

**Environmental Conflict and Resistance** 

Daniel Münster and Ursula Münster

# Human-Animal Conflicts in Kerala: Elephants and Ecological Modernity on the Agrarian Frontier in South India

"On the frontier, nature goes wild." (Anna Tsing 2005)

In the Wayanad District of Kerala in southern India, questions of ecological modernity focus on the boundary of fields and forest. In the last decade, so-called "human-animal conflicts" have emerged as one of the most contentious issues among farmers, forest department officials, and local politicians. The most severe cases of conflict with "forest animals" occur when wild elephants leave the wildlife sanctuary, raid the fields of farmers, and occasionally kill people. Wayanad's ecological modernity is rooted in two historical trajectories that are mostly treated separately in studies of political ecology: the history of agrarian change (tenure systems, land reforms, agrarian crisis, and agrarian capitalism) and the study of state-led forest conservation (science and planning, enclosure and dispossession, wildlife protection, transnational environmental governance). Today, these agrarian and forest histories meet in a series of contestations and conflicts involving humans and animals, mainly with elephants. In this paper, we take violent elephant encounters as a very "material" ethnographic illustration of recent efforts—at the intersection of environmental history and agrarian political economy—to think the agrarian and the environmental together (see Agrawal and Sivaramakrishnan 2000).

Elephants transgress the legal and ontological boundary that separates forests and fields in Wayanad. They have patterns of long-distance seasonal movement in search of water and food that take them across landscapes inhabited by humans on their way to distant patches of forest land. Elephants are iconic animals of global wildlife conservation and of Indian nationalist conservation efforts in particular. At the same time they are "wild animals" (Greenough 2001) causing destruction, violent deaths, and the loss of livelihood for marginal farmers and many Adivasis. The case of Wayanad disrupts the standard political-ecology narrative of the "violence" of conservation. While we agree that forest and wildlife conservation in India remains largely a top-down process, we would like to caution against implicit assumption of economic timelessness among the agrarian neighbors of elephant reserves. These are not subaltern "peasants" suffering the externalities of conservation: they themselves have a history of violent appropriation of the forest. In Wayanad, elephants not only raid the field of traditional landholders and Adivasis (indigenous people) but also intrude into a frontier region of capitalist and chemicalized agriculture in crisis (see D. Münster 2012). The large herbivores have lost thousands of hectares of territory necessary for their annual movement in the process of agrarian settlement over the last five decades.

In contemporary Wayanad, we thus argue, human-animal relations are embedded in a history of ecological modernity composed of three modes of encounter between agrarian change (capitalist settler agriculture) and forest conservation (state-led and globalizing). We suggest that the notions of "frontier," "fortress," and (precarious) "conviviality" best capture the historical and emerging environmental relations in this "environment of crisis" (Münster and Münster 2012). We use our historical ethnography of elephant encounters in a changing landscape to illustrate the notion of a regional ecological modernity, a notion that if fully elaborated ethnographically will need to include further discussions of tourism, neoliberal agriculture (and its crisis), the Adivasi struggle and forest rights (Münster and Vishnudas 2011), and the role of the state in conservation and development, as well as a consideration of environmental and anti-environmental movements.

# The Forest Frontier

Wayanad is a frontier in two interrelated senses. On the one hand, its landscape was constructed as "empty" (Ashcroft et al. 2000) and available to colonial powers, entrepreneurial individuals, and settler-migrants from the Kerala lowlands. On the other hand, Wayanad constitutes what has recently been called a "resource frontier" (Armstrong 1991; Tsing 2005). As Anna Tsing (2005, 28) puts it, "a frontier is an edge in space and time: a zone of [the] not yet mapped, not yet regulated." The frontier is about fantasies of "savage accumulation" and "wildness." Yet this wildness is "both material and imaginative" (Tsing 2005). Resource frontiers include mining and logging frontiers but also "salvage frontiers" of neoliberal conservation. The hills of Wayanad have been a frontier region for loggers, elephant catchers, and gold diggers for centuries. After independence the region became a frontier of expanding agrarian capitalism. Its forested landscape became the site of a "land-rush" of internal colonization by Syrian-Christian settlers from central Kerala.<sup>1</sup>

1 Kerala state was formed only in 1956. When the internal colonization of Wayanad started in the 1940s, the settlers came from the semi-independent state of Travancore.

In the context of food shortages after the Second World War, agrarian expansion was an immediate developmental imperative for the young Indian state. Although the colonization of Wayanad was not planned per se, the local state did little to stop the agrarian pioneers from encroaching on thousands of hectares of forested land. Wayanad was unique in southern India in that it had—besides the territory under the strict rule of the forest department—huge stretches of forest under private (*jenmi*-landlords or temple) ownership as well as (forested) land owned by the Department of Revenue. The ex-feudal owners of private forests had become increasingly uninterested in managing their vast forest holdings, and the Department of Revenue, as the department within the local state that has been arguably most interested in "developing" (forested) land for generation of revenue, made the land available for incoming settlers. On these (legal) spaces of private forests and revenue land, agrarian entrepreneurs successfully established cash crop agriculture and cleared the forest. "The frontier," as Armstrong (1991) puts it, "is thus not simply a line or even zone but a dynamic process of spatial interaction in which unoccupied resource-rich regions are incorporated into national economic space."

In the years 1940 to 1970 the agrarian frontier was a space characterized by violence against nature and indigenous people. The lowland settlers reacted to the hostile climate, disease (malaria), and wild animals with fires, logging, and guns. Elephants were part of this violent landscape, but were not perceived as the major source of discontent they have recently become. Elephant populations were relatively low until the 1990s, a fact partly to be explained by the legal and illegal capture of elephants for domestic and international markets. Additionally, until the late 1980s, Wayanad was a frontier for vicious entrepreneurs such as sandalwood smugglers and ivory poachers. In those years, hunting and poaching of elephants was regularly practiced. However, more space was available for elephants to avoid human contact on their seasonal migration. Historically Wayanad's hills have changed from being a frontier region for largely Christian settlers and other fortune seekers—a permeable region of opportunity—to an intensively utilized agricultural landscape with highly juridified and policed forest boundaries. Under the watch of the forest department, today the forest is fenced and fortified with electric wire and deep trenches to keep animals "in" and humans "out."

### Forest as Fortress

With the land reforms (initiated by the communist-led state government) and the distribution of land titles in the wake of 1970s land tribunals, the period of relative "lawlessness" at the frontier came to an end. At the same time, the remaining patches of unoccupied private forest were nationalized and brought under the custody of the forest department. The boundary between forest and fields had now become identical with the boundary between forest department land and private land. With the onset of the formation of national parks and protected wildlife areas during Indira Gandhi's tenure as Prime Minister, the forest boundary increasingly developed into a strictly policed zone. In 1973 the Wayanad Wildlife Sanctuary was established. Its management plan designated "core areas" of total non-interference in wildlife populations, to be kept "human-free." However, the biophysical qualities of the "forest" proved to be an inappropriate habitat for a growing wildlife population, as the forest department had converted most of the natural forest into monocultures of teak and eucalyptus.



In December of 1982 the first killing of a person by an elephant was reported at the Thirunelly police station. In the 1990s, after the inclusion of Wayanad's forests in the national "Project Elephant," the forest department started to fortify the boundary through trenches and electric fences along the 93 km border of forest and fields in Wayanad. However, these protection measures have largely been unsatisfactory

and have not stopped the raids and killings. While deadly encounters make more headlines, in everyday life raids on the most "endangered crops"—paddy, banana, tapioca, jackfruit trees, and coconut palm—on fields adjacent to the forest cause the greatest threat to rural livelihoods.

Farming communities—Christian settlers as well as indigenous castes (Wayanad Chetties) and Adivasis (the Mullu, Kurumar, and Kurichiyar tribes)—living at the border of the forest have entered into a "cold war" with the forest (department). The "forest" is

Figure 1: Farmer with damaged coconut

not primarily perceived as a natural space with biophysical qualities but as a "state" space under the custody of a coercive armed force. To cross an elephant trench means not only a transgression into dangerous wilderness but also into illegality. Farmers talk about the forest (department) not only as authoritarian, but also as inefficient, bureaucratic, and corrupt: trenches are badly maintained; tenders with the department (to dig new trenches, for example) remain notoriously unpaid; and most importantly, according to settlers, compensation payments after wildlife raids are delayed, bureaucratic, and insufficient.

Farm raids and the perceived bureaucratic indifference of the forest department contribute to the general hostility of settler farmers and indigenous peasants toward wildlife protection and forest conservation. Recently, a new type of farmers' activism has emerged in Wayanad: anti-wildlife activism. Organized direct-action groups, such as "Wildlife Resistance Action Forum" and "Wildlife Free Wayanad," express their anger and despair at the treatment of wild animals through direct action protest against the forest department. Furthermore, there are incidences of violence against the "forest": arson, poisoned elephant bait, electrocution with self-made high-voltage fences, and small-shot charges against elephants.



Figure 2: Elephant trench.

In early 2011 alone, three people lost their lives through elephant attacks. In April 2011, the rage against the forest (department) turned violent after the death of a sixteen-yearold girl who was killed by a tusker on her way to Sunday school. As the news of this incident spread, more than five hundred people gathered at the scene within a short period of time. Grief and anger led to spontaneous arson of the forest; in protest, the agitated bystanders did not allow for the corpse to be taken for autopsy until the Divisional Forest Officer (DFO) arrived in person.

Many of our informants argue that the "level of tolerance" among farmers has decreased. With the growing neoliberalization of agriculture (D. Münster 2011), the economic stakes have increased for farmers. Agriculture has become more capital intensive and speculative. Farmers take higher loans and higher risks today. For capitalist smallholders a partial loss due to wildlife raids has come to represent a real threat to livelihood. Farmers respond to this situation by demanding a modernization of surveillance, defense, and fencing technologies. Fortification of the forest boundary is thus more than a state-led, top-down process; farmers at the forest edge don't demand democratization of the forest but an improved fortification.



Figure 3: Tusker in a eucalyptus plantation.

### **Resigned Coexistence: Towards Conviviality?**

Some farmers argue that agriculture has become impossible on fields adjacent to forest land. Recently, wildlife raids and other symptoms of agrarian crisis have made farmers sell their land to real estate investors. For various reasons, not least the strong demand from the domestic tourism sector, the price of land has increased substantially in Wayanad. This further encourages the sale of Wayanad's agricultural land. What constitutes a life-threatening danger to farmers—the proximity to the forest—becomes a valuable quality to the tourism-related real estate market: forest and wildlife sell. Critics in Wayanad see this development as the end of agriculture and picture an environmental modernity where high-end resorts displace farmers in a commodified tourist landscape (Münster and Münster 2012).

Other farmers have entered what may be called, with Raman Sukumar (2003), a "resigned coexistence" with the raiding elephants. Many farmers we met during fieldwork have grown to be passionate observers of wildlife behavior. They have adopted their cropping patterns to the likes and dislikes of elephants: they avoid the planting of elephants' delicacies such as jackfruit, mangos, or banana near their houses. Some have learned to "gently" drive elephants off their properties without enraging them. Other farmers send their children to boarding schools in order to circumvent dangerous walks along the forest line. Engaged foresters collaborate in these efforts at conviviality (Laurimer 2010) by handing out their personal phone numbers for emergency cases. Spraying chili has proven to be relatively effective as an elephant deterrent. The former wildlife sanctuary's warden has personally invented an electronic "elephantscaring device," which imitates a tiger roar.

Despite this conviviality "on the ground," environmentalists and foresters in Wayanad see little scope for attempts at democratizing the governance of this ecological borderland. The only solution they propose is a move back to "fortress conservation," which operates by fencing in wildlife and excluding humans. Thus, provisions in the recently passed Forest Rights Act (2006) or in the Participatory Forest Program of the 1990s to make wildlife and forest conservation more inclusive have largely been ignored. Furthermore, what is largely absent in debates about the political ecology of forest and wildlife conservation in Wayanad are concerns about the effects of capitalized agriculture and the history of (ecological) violence at the forest frontier.

# Conclusion

Those in Wayanad who debate the political ecology of the district usually focus either on agrarian crises—debating pesticides (see the recent stir about endosulphan in Kerala), organic futures, farmers' suicides, and food safety—or on concerns for forests, conservation, biodiversity, and wildlife. Little dialogue exists between these two pillars of Wayanad's ecological modernity. In this paper we have proposed a vocabulary for the interrelatedness of the agrarian and the forest by describing it as frontier, fortress, and

conviviality. The elephants of Wayanad, bearers of histories of agrarian enclosure and chemicalization, of decades of state-planned environmental management, as well as of centuries of direct human violence against them (poachers, captors, electric fences), literally embody the opportunity to rethink the ontological boundary in Indian political ecology between forests and fields.

### Bibliography

- Agrawal, Arun and K. Sivaramakrishnan. 2000. "Introduction: Agrarian Environments." In *Agrarian Environments: Ressources, Representations, and Rule in India*, edited by Arun Agrawal and K. Sivaramakrishnan, 1–22. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Armstrong, Allen. 1991. "Resource Frontiers and Regional Development: the Role of Refugee Settlement in Tanzania." *Habitat International* 15 (1–2): 69–85.
- Ashcroft, Bill, Gareth Griffiths, and Helen Tiffin. 2000. "Frontier." In *Post-Colonial Studies: The Key Concepts.* London: Routledge.
- Greenough, Paul. 2001. "Naturae Ferae: Wild Animals in South Asia and the Standard Environmental Narrative." In Agrarian Studies: Synthetic Work at the Cutting Edge, edited by James C. Scott, 141–85. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Laurimer, Jamie. 2010. "Elephants as Companion Species: The Lively Biogeographies of Asian Elephant Conservation in Sri Lanka." *Transactions of the British Geographers* 35: 491–506.
- Münster, Daniel. 2011. "Internal Migration and Agrarian Change in Kerala: Embourgeoisement, Land Reforms and the Neoliberalization of Agriculture." Paper presented at the Workshop "Agrarian Transformation in India: Its Significance for Left Politics." Wolfson College, University of Oxford, July 2011.

——. 2012. "Farmers' Suicides and the State in India: Conceptual and Ethnographic Notes from Wayanad, Kerala." *Contributions to Indian Sociology* 46 (182, special issue on suicide in South Asia): 181–208.

Münster, Daniel, and Ursula Münster. 2012. "Consuming the Forest in an Environment of Crisis: Nature Tourism, Forest Conservation and Neoliberal Agriculture in South India." *Development and Change* 43 (1): 205–27.

- Münster, Ursula, and Suma Vishnudas. 2011. "In the Jungle of the Law: The Implementation of the Forest Rights Act in Kerala." Paper presented at European Society of Environmental History Conference, Turku, Finland, 28 June–2 July 2011.
- Sukumar, Raman. 2003. *The Living Elephants: Evolutionary Ecology, Behavior, and Conservation.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Tsing, Anna Lowenhaupt. 2005. *Friction: An Ethnography of Global Connection*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

**Niels Barmeyer** 

# Local Effects of Global Forest Conservation Policy: On Zapotec Resistance against a Protected Natural Area

Forest conservation is a controversial issue for the indigenous Zapotec of the Southern Mexican state of Oaxaca, with whom I have been working for the past three years. Officials from the Mexican Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources (SEMARNAT) and contracted surveyors have visited their villages, seeking to set up "Protected Natural Areas" (*Áreas Naturales Protegidas*). This initiative includes a variety of schemes, ranging from ecological surveys to payment for ecosystem services. However, there is a growing sentiment among the people living in the affected region that the main beneficiaries of such schemes are outsiders: the surveyors and evaluators who are being paid for their studies; the state, which is receiving money via the carbon market for each hectare declared a conservation area; big businesses seeking to make natural resources accessible to the market; and, last but not least, local go-betweens and corrupt officials skimming off the funds intended for the communities. To the people on the ground, the motives for the sudden interest in their territories are often unclear; furthermore, prospecting activities evoke memories of past interventions by the state or by private enterprises, such as mining or logging companies, which deprived the people of their resources and often also repressed them.

Protected Natural Areas have been heavily promoted since the United Nations adopted the Global Strategy for Plant Conservation in 2002, which called for signatory countries to designate at least ten percent of their territory as such (CBD 2002, 7). Among conservation organizations and policy makers, these areas are widely regarded as instruments for counteracting the effects of climate change and  $CO_2$  emissions. In 2000, with global environmental policy allocating ever more importance and money to biodiversity and carbon sinks, Mexico adjusted its legal and institutional framework to increase its conservation zones. Ten years later, the National Commission for Protected Natural Areas (CONANP) managed some 25 million hectares, about 13 percent of Mexican territory (Schmidt 2010, 19).

To make conservation attractive to developing countries, World Bank policymakers employ the same market mechanisms that have provided raw material for industrialized economies for centuries. In Mexico, the first of such payments was made in 2003

and paralleled the expansion of protected areas. They required that local populations refrain from exploiting natural resources in their territory, a ban that often included the outlawing of agricultural activities. Significantly, the payments turn the forest and the water it contains into products to be traded on the global market, which runs contrary to the indigenous population's traditions.

The commodification of resources such as rainwater or the trees of the forest, which were customarily utilized by all community members, fits with the recent privatization of communal lands in Mexico.<sup>1</sup> Along with the policy of reducing the number of smallholders and the importation of cheap mass-produced corn from the United States, this has exacerbated rural poverty and encouraged migration (see Valsecchi 2010). The privatization of land and natural resources, the promotion of personal profit, and the move away from collectivist ideals have severely affected the way people relate to each other and to their environment. Indigenous subsistence farmers often have a history of relative autonomy with regard to land management, but government programs implemented in the context of global conservation efforts undercut such independence. This has led to the undoing of what I call the "stewardship consensus," which is prevalent among indigenous communities living in close relationship with the forest that surrounds them. However, as this essay shows, privatization and the undoing of collective ownership under the pretext of nature conservation do not always proceed smoothly. I suspect that the case presented here is indicative of what is happening elsewhere as a result of global climate policy, and I believe the effects I describe should be taken into account when climate policies are elaborated in the future.

### Testimony of an Environmental Dropout: Santiago Lachiguiri

The situation of the Zapotec community of Santiago Lachiguiri in southeastern Oaxaca exemplifies the conflicts that are bound to arise under the current conservation scheme. The contract that certified Lachiguiri as a protected area came into effect in 2003. Seven years later, a general assembly of community members voted to terminate the arrangement, 23 years before its scheduled end. What had gone wrong?

<sup>1</sup> For Mexican peasant farmers, the joining of NAFTA in 1992 sealed the abolishment of the *ejido*, a communal form of land ownership that has its origins in the agrarian struggles of the Mexican Revolution at the beginning of the twentieth century (see De Ita 2006).

Lachiguiri is governed by customary law rather than by political parties; land issues are decided by a general assembly of titleholders. About eight thousand people inhabit the 26,000 hectares of forest-covered mountains (Schmidt 2010, 18). Most of them are subsistence maize farmers: the staple food is grown in swidden cultivation on *milpas,* in combination with beans and squash.



**Figure 1:** Alternative Forum for Life and Environmental and Social Justice.

In the context of my work as an adviser on indigenous rights, I have met with Lachiguiri communal authorities at press conferences, as well as at information and protest meetings, such as the "Alternative Forum for Life and Environmental and Social Justice," which took place alongside the Cancun Climate Change Conference in December 2010. At these occasions, the authorities publicly denounced the way that, in 2001 and 2002, state officials had compelled their fellow villagers to agree to a Protected Natural Area in Lachiguiri.<sup>2</sup> The officials elaborated on the financial incentives resulting from payments for ecosystem services and the marketing of natural resources, but never explained the consequences of a conservation zone in detail. In short, the broad-based consultation of the local indigenous population, called for by international legislation, did not take place in Lachiguiri.

2 Testimonies by Lachiguiri's communal authorities, recorded in July 2010 in Mexico City and in December 2010 in Cancun.

In August 2003, the general assembly of Lachiguiri land titleholders decided to have part of their territory declared a protected area for five years, yet CONANP issued a 30-year certification. With immediate effect, all agricultural activity in the certified zone was outlawed and 120 smallholders from Lachiguiri were barred from planting maize on land that had belonged to their families for generations.

In 2008, new local authorities took office and the villagers were finally able to see the original documents that declared the protected area untouchable for 30 years. Feeling betrayed, a majority of villagers pressed for the cancellation of the protected area, and in May 2010, this decision was officially ratified. Lachiguiri also decided on a new communal statute, according to which its inhabitants had the right to manage their own territory. This document contains clear rules for the conservation of natural resources, such as the forest and water, as well as regulation to prevent the certification of protected areas without the community's prior informed consent. The maintenance of "ancestrally conserved lands" is considered strictly a communal matter (Schmidt 2010, 22); state- or business-run conservation is prohibited, and payment for ecosystem services is received only on an unconditional basis.

# The Complex Motivations of Local Actors

When these testimonies are compared with a CONANP-sponsored publication compiled by Mexican anthropologists a few years earlier (Cobo and Bartra 2007), certain details emerge that shed light on the complexities that motivated the people of Lachiguiri first to agree, but eventually to opt out of the conservation scheme. The publication voices the community's mixed opinions on the government's conservation package and includes their concerns about not being able to farm the terrain certified as a Protected Area (Schmidt 2010, 117).

The motivations that outweighed the obvious drawbacks emerge from a closer study of the agrarian conflicts between the villages of Lachiguiri, Guienagati, and Guadalupe. These conflicts culminated in a 1988 massacre, in which nine people were killed in one day (Schmidt 2010, 120–22). As much of the area that was made a conservation zone had been unusable due to that same land struggle, the certification appears to be part of a strategy to resolve the longstanding conflict among neighbors.

The privatization of *ejido* land in the early 1990s had been accompanied by a cutback in subsidies for maize and by a general reduction of government aid for rural communities. According to the 2010 testimonies of the communal authorities, villagers identified the ensuing migration of peasant farmers as the greatest problem facing the region. Both the 2001 study and later testimonies stressed the hope that the certification of the conservation zone would bring state funds to compensate for the defects—a hope soon to be dashed. Income-generating schemes that were part of the conservation package offered incentives only to individual families, and not to the collective as a whole. Thus, out of the 120 smallholders deprived of their lands, only 15 were given assistance in growing peaches, while another 5 were trained in setting up a palm oil plantation. However, the indigenous community of Lachiguiri had always functioned as a collective.

The perceived preferential treatment of some individuals as well as the embezzlement of funds by village authorities brought new conflict to the region. Moreover, as migration to the United States continued unabated while living standards failed to improve, the negative aspects of the conservation zone became more salient in the minds of villagers. In this situation, the rehabilitation of the traditional *milpa* system presented itself as a viable solution, promising the reinstatement of collective control over the community's natural resources.

Customary law in Oaxaca's indigenous communities designates the village assembly as the institution ultimately responsible for finding solutions to such fundamental dilemmas. When this organ of direct democracy eventually decided on the cancellation of the conservation area, any other contracts signed by former village authorities became null and void in the eyes of the local Zapotec. Eventually, the Mexican State, too, had to contend with the reality of legal pluralism in Oaxacan territory, as customary law had been constitutionally recognized in 1998 (see Recondo 2002). This change, of course, suggested new allies, and a host of NGOs in the distant capital were ready to assume this role. Fitting in with these new partners required some adjustments in how the community presented itself in terms of indigenous autonomy and the acceptance of government money, but also provided new hopes and perspectives.

### Traditional Food Systems Are Part of the Solution

The method of payment for ecosystem services often fails to convince indigenous communities living in resource-rich environments to pursue conservation policies. In the regions where protection areas are established, SEMARNAT therefore finances "Environment Management Units," where deer are reared for meat or fruit trees are commercially grown. Just as often, the forest immediately adjacent to the protected areas is commercialized. This initiative includes access roads into "secondary growth zones" and a guarantee that there will be customers for the timber.<sup>3</sup> Coupled with widespread corruption at all levels, including in the monitoring of protected areas, this practice can lead to the rapid deterioration of forests adjacent to the conservation zone. This, in turn, results in the worsening of the carbon balance of the whole region and thereby runs contrary to the intentions of the protected area.

Contrary to common portrayals of peasant farmers burning their rainforest, the traditional food system of *milpa* subsistence agriculture appears superior to the intensive crop production practiced in industrialized countries in all aspects, including nutrition, sustainability, and even the carbon balance. For one, the staple food of an entire community is produced on location: emissions are reduced, as the food does not have to be transported for hundreds or thousands of miles to reach the consumer. Local maize variations adapted to the altitude, humidity, and soil are combined with beans and squash to provide nitrogen and moisture for the soil. The maize serves as the main carbohydrate for the producers, while the beans provide the protein; from the squash, primarily the roasted seeds are eaten, which have a high oil and mineral content. One year of cultivation entails an average of seven years of fallow time. As roots from shrubs and trees are still in the ground and the surrounding jungle supplies plenty of seed, the original vegetation quickly grows back and the fallow fields serve as a source of wild vegetables, medicinal plants, and firewood. Finally, the traditional *milpa* works without poisonous pesticides, herbicides, or chemical fertilizers, which damage the soil, depriving it of its ability to act as a carbon sink (and whose production releases large amounts of the greenhouse gas NO<sub>3</sub>).

I believe the conservation efforts of the people who have lived with the forest for generations, practicing subsistence agriculture, deserve more attention. With their local know-

<sup>3</sup> This connection becomes explicit on the website of Mexico's National Forest Commission, which includes a list of links to timber companies (http://www.conafor.gob.mx/mercadas\_maderas/).

ledge systems, which have developed over centuries, these people are (literally) experts in their field. Unfortunately, this wealth of knowledge has been ignored by governments and policy makers, who have put urban academics in charge of forest conservation.



Figure 2: Protest at the United Nations 2010 Cancun Climate Change Conference.

The current concept of protected areas appears to promote an environment that is void of people. Sometimes this is achieved insidiously, as when agricultural activities are restricted; at other times, forced evictions occur, as in the Blue Mountain Biosphere Reserve in the southern Mexican state of Chiapas (see IDMC 2008). In relying on governments and private interests to promote and implement forest conservation projects, international organizations run the risk of violating the free, prior, and informed consent of the communities who live in the affected forests. Programs like REDD, even if they are adapted to include human rights safeguards, are designed to allow industrialized countries and big companies to keep emitting  $CO_2$ , with the side effect of forcing subsistence-based communities into the market economy. Instead of pressuring developing countries, states and corporations need to take responsibility for their own emissions and cut them at the source.

### Bibliography

- CBD (Secretariat for the Convention on Biological Diversity). 2002. *Global Strategy for Plant Conservation*. Montreal: CBD, UNEP, Botanic Gardens Conservation International.
- Chhatre, Ashini, and Arun Agrawal. 2009. "Trade-offs and Synergies between Carbon Storage and Livelihood Benefits from Forest Commons." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106 (42): 17667–70.
- Cobo, Rosario, and Armando Bartra. 2007. Puerta del Viento: Cerro de las Flores Área Comunitaria Protegida. Mexico: UCIRI, CONANP, Instituto Maya A.C.
- De Ita, Ana. 2006. "Land Concentration in Mexico after PROCEDE." In *Promised Land: Competing Visions of Agrarian Reform*, edited by Peter Rosset, Raj Patel, and Michael Courville, 148–64. Oakland, CA: Food First Books.
- Goodman, Amy. 2010. "Small Farmers Gather for Alternative Global Forum on Climate Change and Social Justice." *Democracy Now!* (blog), 6 December 2010. http://www.democracynow. org/2010/12/6/small\_farmers\_organize\_in\_alternative\_global.
- Internal Displacement Monitoring Center (IDMC). 2008. Mexico: Evictions of Indigenous Communities Fuel Displacement in Chiapas. Norwegian Refugee Council Online Publication. http:// www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004BE3B1/(httpInfoFiles)/16B80EB7F37A3642C12 573D800426BC3/\$file/Mexico\_overview\_Jan08.pdf.
- Nepstad, D., S. Schwartzman, B. Bamberger, M. Santilli, D. Ray, P. Schlesinger, P. Lefebvre, A. Alencar, E. Prinz, Greg Fiske, and Alicia Rolla. 2006. "Inhibition of Amazon Deforestation and Fire by Parks and Indigenous Lands." *Conservation Biology* 20: 65–73.
- Recondo, David. 2002. "Usos y Costumbres, Procesos Electorales y Autonomía Indígena en Oaxaca." In *Costumbres, Leyes y Movimiento Indio en Oaxaca y Chiapas*, edited by Lourdes De León, 85–101. Mexico: CIESAS.
- Schmidt, Gerold. 2010. "Protected Areas and Indigenous Territories: Three Case Studies and Some Conclusions." Discussion Paper. Bonn: Church Development Service (EED).
- Valsecchi, Michele. 2010. "Land Certification and International Migration: Evidence from Mexico." Working Papers in Economics, 440. Güteborg: University of Gothenburg.

Elise Demeulenaere

# Reclaiming the Seeds, Becoming "Peasants": On-Farm Agrobiodiversity Conservation and the Making of Farmers' Collective Identity

The emergence of a professional seed industry over the course of the twentieth century has been concomitant with the construction of a regime of innovation favorable to breeders and to a transformation in the nature of plants themselves. (Among the results of this regime are "Distinct, Uniform, Stable" [DUS] varieties and, more recently, genetically modified [GM] plants.) Together, these elements have led farmers engaged in industrialized forms of agriculture to outsource most of their seed-related activities. Such an organization of farming activities is now so embedded in industrialized farming systems that it has become extremely complicated for farmers—and for other actors, as well—to contest it without being accused of opposing progress and modernity.

In the 2000s, however, new developments in the anti-GMO struggle and the toughening of seed laws led an alliance of French farmers organizations to go beyond protest and denunciation and to try to build alternatives to the dominant industrial seed system. The *Réseau Semences Paysannes* (literally the "Peasant Seed Network," RSP) was set up in 2003 as a result of this alliance. It is dependent on a network of farmers who try out alternative practices, such as reviving heirloom varieties or developing on-farm breeding. The creation of the RSP was accompanied by the establishment of a new category, *semences paysannes* ("peasant seeds"), whose semantic significance will be examined in this essay. After recalling the sociohistorical context surrounding French agriculture and offering an overview of the legal considerations regarding seeds, I will give a brief summary of this movement's emergence and will examine its social and political implications. I will contextualize the movement by drawing parallels with other environmental contestation initiatives.

### **Context: French Farming and Seed Laws**

As in other European countries, the French agricultural system went through a radical process of modernization after World War II. Emerging from the restrictions and the devastating economic effects of war on the national economy, the country was faced with the urgent challenge of feeding a hungry population. The priority for the French state was

to increase agricultural productivity. In order to do so, the state encouraged farmers to mechanize their production tools, to use chemicals (pesticides, herbicides, fertilizers), and to replace traditional landraces<sup>1</sup> with improved high-yield varieties. The improvement of crop varieties became one of the three pillars of this process of agricultural modernization.

Breeding had started to develop as a professional activity about two decades earlier. At that time, new professional breeders devised methods inspired by state-of-the-art agronomy, which considered "pure lines" (i.e., genetically uniform lines) as "the most perfect forms of cultivar" (Bustarret 1944, quoted in Bonneuil and Thomas 2009). Genetic uniformity and stability was seen as permitting a standardized and highly productive yield, predictable throughout time and space.

In the field of seed legislation, the *Catalogue officiel des espèces et variétés* (Official Catalogue of Species and Varieties) was created in 1932 in order to protect breeders' intellectual property rights. As time went by, the *Catalogue* became an instrument to help run the "genetic progress": a criterion for productivity was introduced in 1945, which contributed, year after year, to the exclusion of landraces, while a decree of 1949 stated that only the varieties listed in the *Catalogue* could be sold on the seed market. As a result, by 1961 the *Catalogue* no longer included wheat landraces, and their sale was banned (Bonneuil and Thomas 2009). With the ratification of the International Convention for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (UPOV) implemented a system of plant variety protection to serve as an international regulatory framework for the seed industry, with the same principles as the French *Catalogue*.

As a consequence, over the course of the twentieth century, farmers in industrialized countries became end users of improved varieties designed and produced by seed companies. It is important to note that on-farm multiplication of seeds continued to be commonplace.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> A landrace is a local variety of plant species that has developed through adaptation to its natural and cultural environment. Landraces are contrasted with formal breeds, which are selectively bred to particular standards.

<sup>2</sup> In 2007–2008 in France, the proportion of seeds bought from cooperatives reached almost 100 percent for maize, 75 percent for barley, and about 60 percent for wheat. On-farm multiplication is still common, as it allows farmers to save money: farmers buy around one-tenth of the amount of seeds they would need for their entire cultivated surface; they sow them on a multiplication plot and sow the harvest the following year. This practice largely explains why 40 percent of wheat seeds are not bought in cooperatives (Source GNIS. http://www.gnis.fr/images/documents/STA2244\_CP-08.pdf).

The transformation of maize seed production (following the introduction of hybrid F1 varieties) in southern France has inspired the sociologist Henri Mendras and his theory of the "vanishing of the peasants" (Mendras 1970 [1967])—these peasants having been replaced by *exploitants agricoles* ("agricultural managers") over the course of the modernization process. The change in the terms used to qualify the farming profession in the 1960s and 1970s—from "peasants" to *exploitants agricoles*—points to a fundamental mutation of its professional knowledge, its interactions with the surrounding community, and its relation to nature and to the land: in short, of its identity. The term "peasant" was largely dismissive (although not as much as in English) until the 1980s, when left-wing farmers unions rehabilitated the concept by associating it with their critique of the excesses of modernization (Morena 2011).<sup>3</sup>

The International Seed Treaty,<sup>4</sup> signed under the auspices of the FAO in 2001, has introduced a paradigmatic shift in this sociopolitical and regulatory context. Written in line with the Convention on Biological Diversity, it contains the same principles, such as the recognition of the contribution of farmers to the conservation and renewal of plant diversity (art. 5.1c) or the right of farmers to contribute to the governance of the genetic resources of plants (art. 9.2c).

# The "Réseau Semences Paysannes" at the Crossroads of Various Seed Struggles

The UPOV Convention was revised in 1991. The "farmers' privilege" to use the product of their harvests for propagating purposes on their own land (included in the 1978 Act) becomes, through the 1991 Act, a much more restrictive "farmers' exemption," the modalities and application of which are left to the discretion of states. Certain observers have interpreted this change as a threat to the right of resowing a part of the yield. In France, it led to the creation of the "Coordination nationale pour la Défense des Semences de Ferme," an organization whose purpose is to defend the use of these so-called "farm-saved seeds."

4 ITPGRFA, for "International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture."

<sup>3</sup> The term "paysan" appears in the name of several critical movements, the most famous of them being *La Confédération Paysanne*. I never use the term "peasant" as an analytical category, but rather as a category used by the actors themselves. In so doing, I follow Djurtfeld and his critique of academic works about the peasantry that, according to him, commit the fallacy of essentializing the "peasantry" (Djurtfeld, 1999). Morena has adopted the same line.

Further changes in late 2002 toughened French seed laws for organic farming. Yet most organic farmers consider that the seed industry does not respond to their agronomic needs, as the new varieties are bred *in* and *for* conventional farming systems and are not adapted to the specificities of low-input forms of agricultural production. This new state of affairs has led left-wing farmers' movements that are already engaged in the anti-GMO struggle to go beyond protest and denunciation and to imagine alternatives to industrial seeds.

The RSP was set up in 2003 at the crossroads of the aforementioned movements (farmsaved seeds, defense of organic farming, anti-GMO). It calls for the defense of farmers' rights to cultivate and exchange seeds of varieties that are not included in the official catalogue, doing so in the name of farmers' sovereignty and agrobiodiversity conservation. In practice, the RSP relies on scattered initiatives from farmers and gardeners who have been attempting (some of them since the 1970s) to save or revive heirloom varieties or to develop on-farm breeding (Demeulenaere and Bonneuil 2010). The movement gathers their scattered experiences into one struggle against the hegemony of the seed industry, and unites them around the construction of an alternative to the dominant model.

# "Peasant Seeds" and the "Peasant" Category

It was during this period that the expression "peasant seeds" (*semences paysannes*) emerged and was popularized, replacing the concept of "farm seeds" (*semences de ferme*) in activist discourses. This lexical shift was made possible by the political engagement of activists who were close to unions promoting alternative farming models. By voluntarily using the term "peasant" in "peasant seeds," they were able to link the struggle over seeds to their own promotion of the "peasant" as an alternative to industrial agriculture. What's more, instead of referring to the place where the seeds are produced (the farm), the expression uses an adjective that qualifies both the seeds and those who produce them: peasants. Behind this lies the idea that small farmers still possess a unique professional know-how regarding the lives and the reproduction of plants. As a result, the community of individuals that produces these non-industrial seeds is made visible. Peasant seeds appear as a common good, managed and regulated by a community that shares the same practices and seeds: a "common" whose "commoners" are explicitly identified—the peasants (Ostrom 1990).<sup>5</sup>

<sup>5</sup> Contrary to other associations that claim to "free biodiversity" or "liberate the seeds" (e.g. Kokopelli), the RSP is in favor of socially constrained exchanges within communities of farmers (Demeulenaere and Bonneuil 2012).

There is not enough space in this paper to elaborate on the practical dimensions, but it must be emphasized that peasant seeds are not simply a linguistic innovation. The expression's widespread adoption has been followed at the grassroots level by a long process to construct the meaning of peasant seeds. Starting from a diversity of practices (revival of landraces, conservation of ancient varieties, participatory breeding projects involving researchers, etc.), members of the movement have engaged in a series of concrete initiatives to share these experiences and to discuss them and, thereby, to encourage a collective learning experience on practices regarding seeds (Demeulenaere and Bonneuil 2010). The construction process has made clear that peasant seeds differ from farm seeds in that they are not just multiplied on the farm (thus presenting the same genetic characteristics as modern varieties), but are also *bred* on the farm, following "accessible-to-farmers" breeding methods (such as mass selection<sup>6</sup>) and small farmers' criteria.

# "Peasant Seeds," Small Farmers, and the Seed Industry

More than just a shift in vocabulary, "peasant seeds" appear as a new category that goes beyond the previous dichotomy between "industrial seeds" and "farm seeds" (or "farm-saved seeds"). Peasant seeds and industrial seeds differ not only in terms of their origins, but also in terms of their genetic identity and agronomic characteristics. Industrial varieties meet the DUS standards (distinction, uniformity, stability), whereas peasant varieties have a much broader genetic heterogeneity. Industrial varieties are selected *in* and *for* standardized industrial farming systems (which require chemicals), whereas peasant varieties are adapted to low-input and variable farming environments.<sup>7</sup>

This semantic innovation allows the RSP and its followers to "name" a new cause: the cause of farmers who are becoming more and more dependent on the seed industry; of farmers who are losing their ability to make their own agronomic choices; and, finally, of farmers who are trying to revive on-farm autonomous breeding in line with the work of their ancestors. The appearance and rapid spread of the expression "peasant seeds" can be interpreted as a first stage in the sequence of a conflict constitution and

<sup>6</sup> Mass selection is a plant breeding method implemented by farmers for centuries. It involves selecting ears or grains "from the mass," judged visually to be the most interesting.

<sup>7</sup> The argument is widely used to assert the contribution of farmers to prominent environmental issues, such as adaptation to climate change.

resolution as described by Felstiner, Abel, and Sarat (1980) ("naming, blaming, claiming"), necessary to make the cause visible (Cefaï 2007).

This shift in vocabulary and in categories lays the foundations for a reversal of the balance of legitimacy between seed companies and farmers. At present, seed legislation in France allows for the payment of royalties by seed-savers to seed companies on the grounds that they indirectly benefit from the "genetic progress" accomplished by breeding companies. Conversely, the representatives of the RSP claim that breeding companies benefit from the farmers' contribution to genetic resource conservation and development, which constitute the genetic material for improved plant varieties.

This strategy is encouraged and legitimized by the ITPGRFA (the FAO seed Treaty). The implementation of the articles concerning the participation of farmers in agrobiodiversity governance and benefit sharing has engendered a reflection on the definition and defense of "farmers' rights." Even though the RSP is not recognized as a legitimate representative of farmers' voices in France (due to a balance of power more favorable to the mainstream unions), the international context offers a useful leverage point from which to advocate farmers' rights to seed sovereignty.

# The RSP as a Social Movement

In this essay I have described an attempt by farmers to build an alternative to seed production and regulation as it is practiced in the modern agricultural model. What I have sought to explain is that criticisms of the seed industry's hegemony derive from a discursive and practical engagement that produces a shift in conceptual categories and lines of legitimacy, and contribute to the formation and reinforcement of a new collective identity: the peasants. This figure is neither a complete reinvention nor a revival of past traditions; it has more to do with the social and historical relations between actors in the French agricultural landscape. A similar point has been made by Leach and Fairhead, who compared contestation of forest management in two regions: the Caribbean and Guinea. As they have argued, activists tend to put forward their identity as citizens or as indigenous people, depending on what provides them with the greatest sense of meaning and legitimacy in the specific sociohistorical context in which they evolve (Leach and Fairhead 2002).

In this respect, the RSP shares many features with other social movements in its attempts to define a cause and to make it heard by a wider audience and in the emergence of a new collective identity during the activist process (Cefaï 2007; Chateauraynaud 2011). It also shares specific features with the contestation strategy of communities concerned with forest conservation, especially when they position themselves as stewards of biodiversity. International biodiversity governance has historically been conceived as a tradeoff between, on the one hand, easier access to genetic resources, and on the other, the recognition of small communities' contributions to biodiversity conservation, recognition supposedly to be put into practice through benefit sharing (Thomas 2006). Regardless of the actual effects of these mechanisms, small communities have seized on the opportunities opened by this rhetoric to make themselves heard in the area of environmental conflicts. Participatory environmental governance has a performative effect on the way actors present themselves (as "an indigenous and local community," as "farmers": cf. Li 2000) and on the way they build their discourses (as stewards of biodiversity). These dynamics should be studied in a comparative manner, rather than transferring into the academic field the divide between wild biodiversity and agrobiodiversity—a divide that translates into a splitting of the negotiation arenas, with the Convention on Biological Diversity on one side and the FAO treaty on the other.

### Bibliography

- Bonneuil, Christophe, and Frédéric Thomas. 2009. *Gènes, pouvoirs et profits: Recherche publique et régimes de production des savoirs de Mendel aux* OGM. Versailles: Quae.
- Cefaï, Daniel. 2007. Pourquoi se mobilise-t-on ? Les théories de l'action collective. Paris: La Découverte.
- Chateauraynaud, Francis. 2011. *Argumenter dans un champ de forces: Essai de balistique sociologique*. Paris: Editions Pétra.
- Demeulenaere, Élise, and Christophe Bonneuil. 2010. "Cultiver la biodiversité: Semences et identité paysanne." In *Les mondes agricoles en politique: De la fin des paysans au retour de la question agricole*, edited by Bertrand Hervieu, Nonna Mayer, Pierre Muller, François Purseigle, and Jacques Rémy, 73–92. Paris: SciencesPo.

- . 2012. "Des semences en partage: Construction sociale et identitaire d'un collectif 'paysan' autour de pratiques semencières alternatives." *Techniques & Culture* 57 (2): 202–21.
- Djurfeldt, Göran. 1999. "Essentially Non-Peasant? Some Critical Comments on Post-Modernist Discourse on the Peasantry." *Sociologia Ruralis* 39: 262–69.
- Felstiner, William L., Richard L. Abel, and Austin Sarat. 1980. "The Emergence and Transformation of Disputes: Naming, Blaming, Claiming..." *Law & Society Review* 15: 631–54.
- Leach, Melissa, and James Fairhead. 2002. "Manners of Contestation: 'Citizen Science' and 'Indigenous Knowledge' in West Africa and the Caribbean." *International Social Science Journal* 54: 299–311.
- Li, Tania M. 2000. "Articulating Indigenous Identity in Indonesia: Resource Politics and the Tribal Slot." *Comparative Studies in Society and History* 42: 149–79.
- Mendras, Henri. 1970. *The Vanishing Peasant: Innovation and Change in French Agriculture*. Cambridge, Massachussetts: MIT Press.
- Morena, Edouard A. 2011. The Confédération Paysanne as "Peasant" Movement: Re-appropriating "Peasantness" for the Advancement of Organisational Interests. London: King's College, London.
- Ostrom, Elinor. 1990. *Governing the Commons: the Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Thomas, Frédéric. 2006. "Biodiversité, biotechnologies et savoirs traditionnels. Du patrimoine commun de l'humanité aux ABS." *Revue Tiers Monde* 188: 825–42.
- Wenger, Etienne. 1999. *Communities of Practice: Learning, Meaning, and Identity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Globalizing Environments and Indigenous Practices

# Christoph Bergmann and Martin Gerwin

# Towards a Political Ecology of Scale in High Mountains

Global economic and political relations are increasingly dependent on India and China. The destiny of these new centers of power is irrevocably entwined with their ability "to share the same mountains"—the Himalayas—and to settle disputes left over from the border war of 1962 (Malone 2011, 152). Both governments have strengthened their military presence and have made heavy infrastructural investments in their high mountain peripheries. When India began to liberalize its market in the early 1990s (Kohli 2006), commercial interests increasingly affected geopolitical imperatives and advanced new patterns of regional restructuring. While rapid economic growth as well as the rising international significance of both countries attracted much public and academic attention, related and equally compelling aspects remained largely ignored. How are such ongoing processes of border-making experienced and negotiated by the ethnic minorities who live in the mountain peripheries? What implications do they have for the ways these people make a living?

While the Himalayas set effective barriers for state territorial expansion, unequal environmental conditions across the altitudinal gradient favored the flourishing of an extensive agro-trader-pastoralist economy (van Spengen 2000). The underlying production systems integrated several ecological zones, from the cold and arid Tibetan Plateau in the north to the subtropical humid middle hills of the Lesser Himalayas in the south, which are connected by natural corridors of transportation and communication (transversal valleys and high passes in the High and Tibetan Himalayas). Standard academic approaches often relied on simplified assumptions of ecological uniformity in different altitudinal belts, taking population size and its relation to resource depletion as the controlling parameters. Within such scientifically defined and predictable systems, pastoralists were largely seen as "politically passive migrants" (Agrawal and Saberwal 2004, 38), because their mobility was seen as incompatible with society's mainstream. Stimulated by scholars working in the semi-arid rangelands of Africa (Scoones 1995; Niamir-Fuller 1999), our research follows a new scientific agenda that foregrounds the proactive character of pastoral mobility in the Himalayas in three interrelated senses: its spatial and temporal organization; the narratives and discourses that different actors attach to such patterns when drafting policies, fixing routes, or scheduling tasks; and

finally, the lived and embodied practices and rhythms of seasonal movement (Bergmann et al. 2011).

We advocate the concept of "sociocultural resources" for capturing people's repertoire of action in response to ever-changing environmental, economic, and political conditions. The skilled practitioner—a Himalayan shepherd, for instance—develops a fluency of action that allows him not only to efficiently manage good fodder and nutritional supplies for his animals, but also to deal effectively with various "recognizing agents" (Shneiderman 2010, 307), which range from state officials to revered deities, and from representatives of international NGOs to widely dispersed village residents. Pastoral groups do not passively react to processes driven by these agents and their claims on natural resources; rather, they actively deploy their ethnicity, embodied techniques, and other forms of knowledge to find solutions, make decisions, and assert an identity (Forsyth and Michaud 2011). Although these resources are integral to local livelihoods and also contribute to the overall success of a production system, generalized approaches of mountain research tend to neglect them.

Our ongoing project tackles these issues with reference to the so-called Bhotiyas, a pastoral community in several high mountain valleys in Garhwal and Kumaon, the two former kingdoms and administrative units of the Indian federal state of Uttarakhand. Before the closure of the Sino-Indian border, they were involved in trans-Himalayan trade and exchanged sugar, grain, and wool products from India for salt, raw wool, minerals, and animals in Tibet (Nüsser 2006). Sheep and goats were widely kept and were well-suited for transporting commodities over long distances and through difficult terrain. Throughout history, the Bhotiyas have constantly attuned their migratory cycle to shifting political alliances and economic potentials. In Kumaon, however, the number of people that continue to seasonally migrate has approximately halved over the last fifty years (see fig. 1). The Bhotiyas practice combined mountain agriculture (Ehlers and Kreutzmann 2000): a mix of animal husbandry and crop cultivation across different altitudinal belts. This is increasingly supplemented by non-agricultural income sources.

In today's Uttarakhand, communal resource regulations can be identified as a focal point of state-society interaction (Agrawal 2005). *Van panchayats* (village-based councils for regulating the use of forests and grasslands) are one of the oldest examples and are of







lasting importance to migratory groups such as the Bhotiyas (Nüsser and Gerwin 2008). Dominant approaches analyze these formally approved agreements in terms of rational decision making and by means of quantifiable parameters, such as area size or number of users (Naidu 2009; Baland et al. 2010). Undoubtedly, such quantitative data is useful for assessing a local situation and exposing crucial patterns of resource use and sharing. However, scholars increasingly urge the need to move beyond such positivistic models (Jones & Boyd 2011; Agrawal & Chhatre 2011). While promising theoretical advances have been made, there are still very few case studies based on firsthand knowledge of the "cultural logics" that influence the negotiations within such institutional arrangements. In order to examine how local populations actively contest the influence of external forces, we emphasize the need to realize a combined analysis of both institutionalized and ritualized practices. While institutions provide an important arena for the formation and reproduction of daily routines, rituals constitute crucial strategies for the creation of social relationships of all kinds, including their power dimensions (Bergmann et al. 2012). Both are intimately tied to people's ongoing interaction with the environment, offering multiple constellations for negotiating seasonal movements through narratives and practices.

The emerging field of border studies offers an important orientation, especially since it foregrounds the notion of "scale" as a fruitful entry point for analyzing the historical "orderings and re-orderings of the socio-spatial landscape, including new geographies of accumulation, state power, and hegemony" (Jessop et al. 2008, 395). Scales are generally seen as hierarchically ordered spatial units: the smallest is the body, and the largest is the globe (Brenner 2001). In order not to lose touch with the concrete practices of everyday life that form the bedrock of such divisions and their restructuring, we follow authors who conceptualize them as contested webs of relations (Howitt 2003)-while some people have access to such webs "at different levels, or with a wider geographical span, others do not" (van Schendel 2005, 10). The resulting "politics of scale" (Cox 1998) is of particular relevance to Himalayan pastoralists, because their farreaching seasonal movements are enclosed within numerous institutional and administrative arrangements. Relevant examples include the clash of customary regulations with state-sanctioned ones at the village level; reservations for communities perceived as under-represented, resulting in new regional alliances and strategies among Himalayan pastoralists; the building of dams and of transport infrastructure to integrate the mountain peripheries with state and national development; and, at the scale of international relations, a sealed and militarized border. One major task for a political ecology of scale is to identify and compare these alternative styles or projects of scale making (Tsing 2000; Zimmerer & Bassett 2003; Gezon 2004). Their ongoing interaction makes a mockery of the oppositions between highlands and lowlands, forests and fields, as well as between sociocultural and biophysical processes, whose transient character mountain research has been slow to accept.

#### Bibliography

- Agrawal, Arun. 2005. Environmentality: Technologies of Government and the Making of Subjects. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Agrawal, Arun, and Ashwini Chhatre. 2011. "Strengthening Causal Interference through Qualitative Analysis of Regression Residuals: Explaining Forest Governance in the Indian Himalaya." *Environment and Planning* 43: 328–46.
- Agrawal, Arun, and Vasant K. Saberwal. 2004. "Whither South Asian Pastoralism? An Introduction." *Nomadic Peoples* 8: 36–53.

- Baland, Jean-Marie, Pranab Bardhan, Sanghamitra Das, and Dilip Mookherjee. 2010. "Forests to the People: Decentralization and Forest Degradation in the Indian Himalayas." World Development 38 (11): 1642–56.
- Bergmann, Christoph, Martin Gerwin, William S. Sax, and Marcus Nüsser. 2011. "Politics of Scale in a High Mountain Border Region: Being Mobile among the Bhotiyas of the Kumaon Himalaya, India." *Nomadic Peoples* 15 (2): 104–29.
- Brenner, Neil. 2001. "The Limits to Scale? Methodological Reflections on Scalar Structuration." Progress in Human Geography 25 (4): 591–614.
- Cox, Kevin R. 1998. "Spaces of Dependence, Spaces of Engagement and the Politics of Scale, or: Looking for Local Politics." *Political Geography* 17 (1): 1–23.
- Ehlers, Eckart, and Hermann Kreutzmann. 2000. "High Mountain Ecology and Economy: Potential and Constraints." In *High Mountain Pastoralism in Northern Pakistan*, edited by Eckart Ehlers and Hermann Kreutzmann, 9–36. Stuttgart: Franz Steiner.
- Forsyth, Tim, and Jean Michaud. 2011. "Rethinking the Relationships between Livelihoods and Ethnicity in Highland China, Vietnam, and Laos." In *Moving Mountains: Ethnicity and Livelihoods in Highland China, Vietnam, and Laos*, edited by Jean Michaud and Tim Forsyth, 1–27. Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Gezon, Lisa L. 2004. "Finding the Local in the Global: Environmental Struggles in Northern Madagascar." In *Political Ecology across Spaces, Scales, and Social Groups*, edited by Susan Paulson and Lisa L. Gezon, 135–53. New Brunswick: Rutgers University Press.
- Howitt, Richard. 2003. "Scale." In *A Companion to Political Geography,* edited by John Agnew, Katharyne Mitchell, and Gerard Toal, 138–57. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Jessop, Bob, Neil Brenner, and Martin Jones. 2008. "Theorizing Sociospatial Relations." *Environment and Planning* 26: 389–401.
- Jones, Lindsey, and Emily Boyd. 2011. "Exploring Social Barriers to Adaptations: Insight from Western Nepal." *Global Environmental Change* 21 (4): 1262–74.

- Kohli, Atul. 2006. "Politics of Economic Growth in India, 1980–2005, Part II: The 1990s and Beyond." *Economic and Political Weekly*: 1361–70.
- Malone, David M. 2011. *Does the Elephant Dance? Contemporary Indian Foreign Policy*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Naidu, Sirisha C. 2009. "Heterogeneity and Collective Management: Evidence from Common Forests in Himachal Pradesh, India." *World Development* 37 (3): 676–86.
- Niamir-Fuller, Maryam. 1999. "Toward a Synthesis of Guidelines for Legitimizing Transhumance." In *Managing Mobility in African Rangelands: The Legitimization of Transhumance*, edited by Maryam Niamir-Fuller, 266–90. London: Intermediate Technology Publications.
- Nüsser, Marcus. 2006. "Ressourcennutzung und nachhaltige Entwicklung im Kumaon-Himalaya (Indien)." In *Geographische Rundschau* 58 (10): 14–22.
- Nüsser, Marcus, and Martin Gerwin. 2008. "Diversity, Complexity and Dynamics: Land Use Patterns in the Central Himalayas of Kumaon, Northern India." In *Diversity in Mountain Systems*, edited by Jörg Löffler and Jörg Stadelbauer, 107–19. Sankt Augustin: Asgard Verlag.
- Scoones, Ian. 1995. "New Directions in Pastoral Development in Africa." In Living with Uncertainty: New Directions in Pastoral Development in Africa, edited by Ian Scoones, 1–36. London: Intermediate Technology Publications.
- Shneiderman, Sara. 2010. "Are the Central Himalayas in Zomia? Some Scholarly and Political Consideration across Space and Time." *Journal of Global History* 5: 289–312.
- Tsing, Anna. 2000. "The Global Situation." Cultural Anthropology 15 (3): 327-60.
- Van Schendel, Willem. 2005. *The Bengal Borderland: Beyond State and Nation in South Asia*. London: Anthem Press.
- Van Spengen, Wim. 2000. *Tibetan Border Worlds: A Geohistorical Analysis of Trade and Traders.* London: Kegan Paul International.
- Zimmerer, Karl S., and Thomas J. Bassett. 2003. "Future Directions in Political Ecology: Nature-Society Fusions and Scales of Interaction." In *Political Ecology: An Integrative Approach to Geography and Environment-Development Studies*, edited by Karl S. Zimmerer and Thomas J. Bassett, 274–96. New York: Guilford Press.

# Wolfgang Kapfhammer

# Tending the Emperor's Garden: Modes of Human-Nature Relations in the Cosmology of the Sateré-Mawé Indians of the Lower Amazon<sup>1</sup>

# The Construction of a Sense of Place

Within the "bioregionalist" strand of Western eco-politics, concepts like "geophilia" emphasize the powerful spiritual, social, and psychological bonds people should have with their environment and landscapes, bonds that lead to the development of a strong sense of place (Taylor 2000).<sup>2</sup> Although this kind of place-making was originally introduced as a concept by architects and city planners to counter the inhospitality of *urban* environments, advocates of bioregionalism support strategies of re-inhabiting *natural* landscapes, often citing as models indigenous peoples, whose sense of place is understood as solidifying through the application of religious, moral, and aesthetic meaning to their environment (Myers 2002).

While it is certainly true that indigenous societies avail themselves of powerful ways of structuring their world through lore and ritual (Århem 1998; Santos-Granero 2004), it is also true that in the (post-) colonial situation, many of these strategies have been contested by powerful external political forces. Thus, indigenous peoples have had to contend with environmental stress or degradation (logging, chemical pesticides, etc.), resulting gaps in ecological knowledge, and a loss of "poetic involvement" (Ingold 2000) with the environment, similar to the losses lamented by green activists in the Western world.

On the other hand, from a Western perspective, the Amazon is still presumed to be an Edenic landscape, primarily because the local indigenous peoples have developed millennia old cosmologies that are based on "sound" relations between what we call "humans" and what we call "nature." Many scholars believe that it is exactly these cosmologies that draw a distinction between "destructive" and "non-destructive" humannature relations.

<sup>1</sup> I would like to thank the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) for funding my research (HA5957/6-2) and the Conselho Nacional de Pesquisa (CNPq) for authorizing field research in Brazil (010581/2009-0).

<sup>2</sup> On the spiritual subtext of Western human-nature relations see Taylor 2010.

While cosmologies certainly offer guidelines for environmental conduct, I argue that it would be wrong to essentialize specific cosmologies as monolithic and immune to historical change. The Sateré-Mawé, whom I shall discuss, exhibit a pluralism of sometimes conflicting modes of human-nature relations in their cosmology. I will also argue that cosmology provides the backdrop for emerging strategies to deal with social, economic, and environmental crisis within the Sateré-Mawé's indigenous area.

#### The Sateré-Mawé Case

The Sateré-Mawé is one of the last indigenous groups in the immediate vicinity of the main Amazon River that continues to maintain its cultural identity. Mostly known as the original cultivators of guaraná, the Sateré-Mawé, today numbering about 12,000 people, have been exposed to prolonged contact with the encompassing Brazilian society in the form of early missionizing efforts, the socially and ecologically predatory local form of extractivism, and indigenous government agency. Indeed, cultural contact has led an increasing number of Sateré-Mawé to abandon their forested and riverine place both ideologically and practically, and seemingly to give in to the pull of Western consumer culture.<sup>3</sup>

The weakening of the Sateré-Mawé's attachment to place is clearly articulated in a narrative that explains the unequal distribution of goods between the Sateré and the white population. In the myth, *ase'i Imperador*, or Grandfather Emperor,<sup>4</sup> leads his people out of the inhospitable "paradise" *Nusoken*. He asks the Sateré to go down to the river bank, where he will be waiting for them to take them with him on his ship. Halfway along the trail the Sateré get distracted by palms ripe with fruits, lose track of time, and miss the boat. The Emperor leaves without them, taking along all the industrial commodities. The Sateré are consoled by the Emperor's promise to send them the much-desired merchandise every once in a while.

This narrative may be interpreted as an elaboration of the historical experience of growing dependence on external Western commodities, an experience that has developed into a downright *cargo*-stance: a passive demand for commodities with no sug-

4 This title probably refers to the Brazilian Emperors Dom Pedro I and II of the nineteenth century.

<sup>3</sup> Cf. Kapfhammer 2004, 2007, 2009; for more information on the Sateré-Mawé go to http://www.online. uni-marburg.de/satere/.

gestion of exchange or reciprocity.<sup>5</sup> Interestingly, such a "demand-sharing" (Peterson 1993) mode of human-nature relations exists in traditional Sateré-Mawé cosmology, where the shaman ritually demanded game from a supernatural animal mother (cf. Bird-David 1990). Today this mode is echoed in the relations between chiefs and river traders, between recent political leaders and government agencies or international NGOs, and between citizens and the welfare state. However, this orientation of the Sateré-Mawé towards the exterior not only has to conceal the historical fact of asymmetric and hierarchic relations, of violence and exploitation during the era of extractivism; it also contributes to the Sateré-Mawé's alienation from their forest environment by dislocating the source of salvation towards exterior urban spaces.

Although the Sateré-Mawé partially uphold the idea of unconditional relations between humans and their environment, their cosmology actually demands a rather disillusioned stance towards what we might call "nature." As in many agricultural groups, the transition from childhood to full, adult personhood requires a ritual. In the case of the Sateré-Mawé, adolescent boys are subjected to the painful stings of poisonous ants. As it is explained in the myth, the symbolism of the rite could not be more explicit: the ants originate from the vagina of a snake woman of the aquatic underworld. The caring relationship with the animal-mother is disrupted, to be replaced by the dangerous and violent relation to *Uniamoire'i*, the Snake Woman. Contrary to clichéd Western convictions about the harmoniousness of indigenous life in and with nature, reaching full personhood for the Sateré-Mawé means confronting nature's "toxicity."

On the one hand, this mode of human-nature relations stabilizes emotional attachment to the environment and, as such, strengthens the Sateré-Mawé's sense of place. This demanding, "cost-intensive"<sup>6</sup> regime, which is based on balanced, reciprocal exchanges with the different domains of the cosmos, comes close to what Reichel-Dolmatoff (1976) paradigmatically has described as "cosmology as ecological analysis": a world vision whose implicit environmental ethics attract Western agencies as potential partners for collaboration in sustainable development projects.

<sup>5</sup> So called "*cargo*-cults" have been observed among indigenous peoples in times of cultural contact. They refer to the sometimes religiously-fuelled expectation of Western merchandise.

<sup>6</sup> In contrast to the unconditional mode of human-nature relation, this mode requires a person to meet obligations, to "invest" in relations. This is how I use the term "cost-intensive."

On the ground, this system, which requires a daily routine of prescriptions and precautions regarding nutrition and health, is prone to accusations of sorcery, which ensure that the system is characterized by cycles of violence. This instability is potentially explosive when mixed with conflicting regional and political interests, and the situation has reached a crisis point several times. One such crisis occurred during a particularly violent boom cycle of rosewood extraction in the 1960s, and today a staggering population increase has made chronic shortage of food a social reality in the *Área Indígena Andirá-Marau.*<sup>7</sup> Engaged as they are in internal struggles, the Sateré-Mawé are ill-equipped to deal with external issues.

### Sateré-Mawé Responses: A New Sense of Place

These crises have prompted much discussion among the Sateré-Mawé; possible solutions, as I will show, could be interpreted as a revitalization of the Sateré-Mawé's sense of place.

One response of Sateré-Mawé society to the critical situation has been the establishment of an evangelical Christian counterculture, starting in the 1960s and reaching a peak in the 1990s. Today, the evangelical movement has largely lost its impetus due to the death of its charismatic leaders. It has disappeared from the public stage to consolidate itself within the intimacy of parochial life. The first-wave evangelicals distanced themselves rigorously from the prevailing "cost-intensive" system of humannature relations precisely because of its symbolic, ritual, and everyday violence. What was lost, though, was the sense of nature as an actor to be respected. The stance of the evangelicals increased the society's alienation from the forest environment.

Subsequently, a new wave of evangelical Christians emerged, increasingly critical of "civilization" and its "contaminating" effects. However, instead of returning to the costintensive system, they "Edenize" forest space. This novel environmental discourse relocates the "toxicity" of the "wilderness" as it is established in the initiation rite. The pathogenic *satek*, the poison, is no longer associated with the cosmological domains as in the initiation rite (see above), but with the space of civilization—that is, of the village (*tawa*)—where the contaminating impact of the fringes of Western culture makes itself

<sup>7</sup> The Indigenous Area of the Sateré-Mawé is situated on the Lower Amazon, south of Parintins, on the border between the Brazilian federal states of Amazonas and Pará.

felt. This new "toxic" space is now pitted against a "safe and sound" forest (*ga'apy*), an Edenic realm of purity. This moral discourse, with its nativistic undertone, may have the potential to *re-politicize* and *re-ecologize* the evangelical movement.

Another response has been to link up Sateré-Mawé products with the global fair trade market. At the peak of the evangelical movement in the 1990s, its charismatic leaders were able to integrate religion, politics, and economic interests. Their tenure coincided with the start of a fair trade project to commercialize guaraná and a great many other forest products of the Sateré-Mawé area. It was a stroke of luck that guaraná not only met the demand of a European fair trade market, but also rooted itself squarely in a traditional ritual complex of chiefly authority and the construction of social consensus.<sup>8</sup> However, as the political power of the evangelical movement went into decline, the cultural acceptance of the "guaraná project," once praised as the way out of misery, also diminished.

Recently, the indigenous guaraná company reinvented itself by founding the *Consórcio dos Produtores Sateré-Mawé* (CPSM)<sup>9</sup>—an attempt to regain space lost in political conflicts. Along with its business endeavors based on global fair trade ethics, this new group of actors actively endorses a cosmological change of perspective, calling for a specific reading of the myth of the "Grandfather Emperor." This reading traces itself back to one of the deceased evangelical leaders: instead of relying on external commodities, it constructs the mandate of the Sateré-Mawé as stewards of their forest environment. However, the activists began to realize that this novel kind of "stewardship" may only be sustainable culturally if it is supported by an aesthetic and affective "re-embedding" of human-nature relations; in other words, they need to be *respiritualized*.

Essentially this is achieved through the economic activities of the fair trade project.<sup>10</sup> By returning to autonomous productivity within their forest environment, the Sateré-Ma-wé realize a fundamental message of their mythology. In one of the major cosmogonic myths, a violent conflict gives rise to the riverine landscape of the Sateré-Mawé. *Sururí* 

<sup>8</sup> As a ritual beverage, guaraná accompanied reunions in the chief's house. Based on the origin myth of this plant the Sateré-Mawé consider themselves as the "Sons of Guaraná."

<sup>9</sup> See http://sites.google.com/site/filhosdowarana/.

<sup>10</sup> By opening so-called "roças consorciadas" (inter-cropping gardens), the Sateré-Mawé producers not only meet the certification requirements of the Western project partners, but also contribute considerably to the aesthetic of the place.

*tunug* (Snake / Thunder), the Master of the Water, creates a new spatial order: using his shamanistic tools, he transforms an indiscriminate flood of water into a river with two banks. By blowing tobacco he creates the sinuous line of today's rivers; his rattle and feather-sticks become the *patawá-* and *burití*-palms that dominate river banks today. The blood of a boy, whose bursting body had started the excessive flood, is transformed into the much-appreciated *assai*-palms.

On the one hand, this myth recalls the concept of the cost-intensive relationship. Relations between human beings and the enchanted landscape are shown to have a negative, violent aspect: the blood is the rain of the wet season, known to bring sickness and death; the serpentine form of the river further alludes to the fact that this is the domain of the Snake Master and his powerful but pathogenic substance *satek*. On the other hand, the shaman's tools that were transformed into the landscape metonymically stand for transformation itself: the *autonomy of production*—of "producing production" (Turner 2009)—that is transmitted in the narratives and written into the places with which human beings interact to reproduce themselves.

Regaining a sense of place also means regaining agency and autonomy of production, with nature no longer being dismissed in favor of external commodities, but rather being given a status equal to that of its inhabitants. The version of the *Emperor* narrative that establishes the Sateré-Mawé as stewards of an "ecological and cultural sanctuary" does so by way of a cosmographic re-orientation of spatial relations: while the "cargo" versions allocate the means of production towards the exterior, the "stewardship" version reappropriates "production power" (Turner 2009)<sup>11</sup> for the Sateré-Mawé and their forested and riverine environment.

From the case of the Sateré-Mawé we can conclude more generally that, while Western environmental thinking profits from looking at varied relations to nature, it will continue to do so only if it acknowledges the structural complexities and historical conjunctures that shape such regimes in the global struggle for planetary existence.

<sup>11</sup> The website of the CPSM catches the eye of the viewer with the headline "Nossa luta é produzir" ("our struggle is to produce").

#### Bibliography

- Århem, Kaj. 1998. "Powers of Place: Landscape, Territory and Local Belonging in Northwest Amazonia." In *Locality and Belonging*, edited by Nadia Lovell, 78–102. London: Routledge.
- Bird-David, Nurit. 1990. "The Giving Environment: Another Perspective on the Economic System of Gatherer-Hunters." *Current Anthropology* 31: 183–96.
- Ingold, Tim. 2000. *The Perception of the Environment: Essays on Livelihood, Dwelling and Skill.* London: Routledge.
- Kapfhammer, Wolfgang. 2004. "De 'Sateré puro' (sateré sese) ao 'Novo Sateré' (sateré pakup): mitopraxis no movimento evangélico entre os Sateré-Mawé." In Transformando os Deuses: Igrejas Evangélicas, Pentecostais e Neopentecostais entre os Povos Indígenas no Brasil, edited by Robin M. Wright, vol. II, 134–93. Campinas: UNICAMP.
  - ——. 2007. "Götterkind und Markenzeichen: Ökonomie, Moral und kulturelle Nachhaltigkeit eines Guaraná-Projektes bei den Sateré-Mawé, Brasilien." In *INDIEGegenwart: Indigene Realitäten im südamerikanischen Tiefland*, edited by Merle Amelung, Claudia Uzcatequi, Niels Oliver Walkowski, and Markus Zander, vol. 1, 19–44. Estudios Indiana 1. Berlin: Gebr. Mann Verlag.
  - ——. 2009. "Divine Child and Trademark: Economy, Morality, and Cultural Sustainability of a Guaraná Project among the Sateré-Mawé, Brazil." In *Native Christians: Modes and Effects of Christianity among Indigenous Peoples of the Americas*, edited by Aparecida Vilaça and Robin M. Wright, 211–28. Farnham, UK: Ashgate.

Myers, Fred R. 2002. "Ways of Place-Making." La Ricerca Folklorica 45: 101-19.

- Peterson, Nicholas. 1993. "Demand Sharing: Reciprocity and the Pressure for Generosity Among Foragers." *American Anthropologist* 95 (4): 860–76.
- Reichel-Dolmatoff, Gerardo. 1976. "Cosmology as Ecological Analysis: A View from the Rain Forest." *Man* 11: 307–18.
- Santos-Granero, Fernando. 2004. "Arawakan Sacred Landscapes: Emplaced Myths, Place Rituals, and the Production of Locality in Western Amazonia." In *Kultur, Raum, Landschaft: Zur Bedeutung des Raumes in Zeiten der Globalität*, edited by Ernst Halbmayer and Elke Mader, 93–122. Frankfurt, Wien: Brandes & Apsel.

- Taylor, Bron. 2000. "Bioregionalism: An Ethics of Loyalty to Place." *Landscape Journal* 19 (1–2): 50–72.
- . 2010. *Dark Green Religion: Nature Spirituality and the Planetary Future*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Turner, Terry S. 2009. "The Crisis of Late Structuralism. Perspectivism and Animism: Rethinking Culture, Nature, Spirit, and Bodiliness." *Tipití: Journal of the Society for the Anthropology of Lowland South America*, 7 (1).

# Shahnaz Kimi Leblhuber and H. Vanlalhruaia

# *Jhum* Cultivation versus the New Land Use Policy: Agrarian Change and Transformation in Mizoram

The Mizo people of India have practiced *jhum* cultivation ("slash-and-burn") for hundreds of years. However, since British colonial rule, they have increasingly lost control of communal land because of governmental development and land-use policies. The contrast between colonialism and this method of agricultural production can be seen in terms of "commodity" versus "sacred space" on the one hand, and "civilized space" versus "primitive bounded space" on the other. In post-colonial India, the practice of jhum cultivation is often considered an extravagant and unscientific form of land use. Pessimistic attitudes toward jhum cultivation practice are driven largely by the rise of liberal economic policies, and concern for potential ecological crises. This paper intends to add to current debates surrounding jhum cultivation, forest conservation, and agrarian change in Mizoram by looking at jhum cultivation in relation to the New Land Use Policy (NLUP) introduced by the government of Mizoram in 1984.

# Area of Study

Mizoram is a hilly region situated in the northeastern frontier of India and inhabited by various tribal groups, such as the Mara, Lai, Paite, Hmar, Ralte, and Lusei, who together form the ethnic group of the Mizo. The people of Mizoram have been practicing jhum cultivation for hundreds of years. The cultural formation of Mizo community identity is strongly intertwined with jhum cultivation. Traditional management of the forest includes various forms of regulation, such as limited access, size restrictions, and sacred or protected areas (Vanlalhruaia 2009). Such management was based on a strong attachment to land, customary laws, norms, belief systems, and ethical values regarding the environment. The chieftainship institution was also designed to establish a management system and to formulate customary laws regarding the forest.

# The Colonial Managerial System

The first half of the twentieth century witnessed a rapid shift from indigenous land management systems to a colonial managerial system. In many parts of India, strict regulations to control forests were put in place, yet this was not the case in Mizoram. The British allowed the Mizo chiefs to retain control over forest resources, including the right to practice jhum cultivation. After some time, however, and for the purpose of increasing state revenue, successive policies to curb jhum cultivation were introduced. A form of land settlement popularly known as the circle system was introduced in 1901, effectively dividing Mizoram into 18 circles administered by local chiefs. The regulation limited jhum cultivation by forbidding the practice of it outside of these circles. At the same time, and in a break with the tradition of communal ownership of land, new cash crops such as coffee, cotton, potatoes, and oranges were introduced under private ownership. Wet rice cultivation was introduced in 1898 in order to gain income from taxing it (McCall 1980, 103). As Lalit Kumar Jha (1997, 27) notes, "Ithel land tenure system tended to be more and more individualistic in consonance with the nature of cultivation practices."

# Post Colonial State Intervention

Following independence in 1947, the Indian constitution provided a certain degree of autonomy at either local or regional levels, including the management of natural resources. In reality, successive regulations through centralized administrative mechanisms were introduced. The Chieftainship office was abolished in 1954, and two new administrative categories—Autonomous District Councils and Village Councils— emerged (Mizoram 1989, 252, 285).

According to Sajjad Hassan (2006, 13), "Ithel abolition of Chieftainship meant that land became the property of the state and chiefs' privileges no longer existed. Abolition of Chieftainship, consolidation of the administrative and legal framework under the state, and the bringing of tenants directly in contact with it, have helped to consolidate the state's authority. These measures enhanced the state's social control while weakening drastically any challenges to its authority from social forces." More and more regulations were imposed to broaden the power of the state. For example, when Mizoram became a fully-fledged state of the Indian Union in 1987, the government declared ownership of the land and enacted laws to establish different categories of ownership within the state (Jha 1997, 28). All land became the property of the government; communal land in its true sense was therefore effectively eliminated. In villages, when the necessity arises for jhum cultivation, the Village Council is authorized to make annual jhum allotments in compact areas for a cluster of families.

# Concerns over Jhum

The practice of jhum cultivation has become the subject of debate among foresters, ecologists, economists, and policymakers. The main contention is that it is the leading cause of land degradation in the hills of Mizoram (Lianzela 1997, 785; Maithani 2005; Raman et al. 1998, 214–31; Raman 2001, 685–98). At the same time, officials are concerned about increasing state revenue: replacing the jhum economy with more liberal economic models is seen by the government as a profitable move and as a way to open the door for large-scale development projects. On the other hand, new systems are not always accepted by local populations (Ramakrishnan and Patnaik, 1992, 220; Sharma 1994, 145). Several global agencies have even intervened in the projects.

In addition, the entire northeast region is now considered part of an Indo-Burma biodiversity hotspot, which ranks sixth among the top 25 hotspots in the world. Other groups are concerned about global warming; they believe that jhum burning is a large emitter of carbon-dioxide. The government therefore decided that the jhum cultivation system should be impeded at all costs, in order to protect the global environment.

# The New Land Use Policy

It was in response to this critical situation that an alternative policy called the New Land Use Policy (NLUP) was introduced by the government of Mizoram in 1984–85. According to the government, the main aim of the policy is "to put an end to the practices of shifting cultivation by giving the farmers alternative sustainable land-based activities through the New Land Use Policy" (NLUP 2009, 2). The plan was executed by the State Forest Department; 6,086 families were assisted in establishing commercial plantations. However, after the policy proved ineffective, it was terminated in 1989–90 (Lianzela 2003).

In 1987, the NLUP was replaced by the Jhum Control Project, sponsored directly by the National Development Council of India. Under the State Agricultural Department, pilot projects in Aibawk Block and Tuipang Block were introduced in 1987–88 and 1990–92 respectively. Of the 1,936 participants, 47 percent opted for horticulture, 20 percent for animal husbandry, 10 percent for wet rice cultivation, 9 percent for coffee plantation, and 5 percent for cottage industries (Mizoram 1991). This project was

also soon discontinued. Under the auspices of the Rural Development Department, the NLUP was implemented once more between 1990 and 1991, targeting mainly families that depended solely on jhum cultivation and families that did not have stable livelihoods. Mizoram was divided into various circles, and assistance (in the form of 30,000 Indian rupees) was provided to each family. The government distributed over 132 crores rupees<sup>1</sup> (approximately 24 million US dollars) to 41,000 beneficiaries (Mizoram, 2000). However, the program did not formulate specific goals to be achieved within the stipulated time. It neither improved the forest landscape nor encouraged the jhum cultivators' alternative livelihoods. The extent of the shifts in cultivation in NLUP blocks is demonstrated by the fact that, while the West Phaileng Circle showed a decline in jhum areas from 2,954 ha in 1989–90 to 2,100 ha in 1994–95 (a 29 percent decrease), other areas, such as Sairang, witnessed an increase of 72 percent (from 690 ha to 1,185 ha). Kanghmun experienced an increase of 106 percent (185 ha to 382 ha).

State statistics clearly show extensive mismanagement on the part of the government. For instance, in the West Phaileng block, there were only 3,733 houses (1991 census), but the number of recorded NLUP beneficiaries was 5,445 (Singh 2009). There were similar cases in the Khawzawl and Lungsen Blocks, where NLUP beneficiaries exceeded the number of total households.<sup>2</sup> The program was once again terminated in 2000–01 without having generated any fruitful results.

In 2000, with the formation of the new ministry (the Mizo National Front), the project was reformulated and named the Mizoram Intodelhna Project (Project for the Self-Sufficiency of the Rural Poor). Assistance was provided in the form of 50,000 Indian rupees per family (around 900 US dollars). One of the objectives was "to liberate the jhum*mias* from their drudgery so that they may have a more dignified standard of life" (Lianzela 2008), yet the project gives no explanation for this negative view of jhum cultivation.

In 2008, the new government (the Congress Party) re-introduced the NLUP for a period of ten years. The Indian Central Government recently set aside 2,416 crores rupees (435 million US dollars) for the project. In the first five years of the project, the

<sup>1</sup> One crore rupees is 10 million rupees.

<sup>2</sup> According to the 1991 census, the number of total houses in Lungsen was 4847, while NLUP beneficiaries were recorded as 5079. The number of houses in Khawzawl was 8526, whereas NLUP beneficiaries exceeded 9096.

NLUP—with the support of the Departments of Agriculture, Horticulture, Industries, Forests, Fisheries, Sericulture, and Soil and Water Conservation—aims to support 120,000 families.

#### Mistrust of the State

The NLUP is being promoted in Mizoram on the basis that it will improve rural livelihoods. However, we are contesting such a claim: we argue that the Indian Government's intention is to follow liberal economic policies rather than to improve the lives of rural populations. Through our fieldwork, we have discovered that the goals of the NLUP contradict themselves. The NLUP has been in place as an experiment for the past several years, but there is tremendous cause for concern, as the failure of the project would seriously erode the credibility of the government. And there are far more worrying matters.

The NLUP operates in such a way as to disrupt the well-organized system of jhum cultivation. As government roles increase, the community's role in the management of the environment is reduced. As people lose their responsibilities, they also begin to lose confidence in their communities, and thus in their ability to safeguard the traditional ethical code (or *tlawmngaihna*) and to regulate their customary laws. In this way, people become increasingly dependent on government management programs. Moreover, the policy "works out to be a high-cost activity, requiring not only high investment, but also high recurring expenses" (Singh 2009, 298-315). Under the government's policy, the majority of cultivators grew cash crops (among other activities), while, paradoxically, they continued to depend on jhum cultivation for food production. Mizoram is too heterogeneous, both socially and politically, for the government's policy to be successful. During the implementation of the NLUP system, power struggles between state bureaucracy and local village councils have increased. It is difficult for the jhum cultivator to trust an administration that has yet to prove its credibility. Such distrust also arises from the historical trajectory of top-down development plans, which provided neither incentives nor opportunity for growth. A serious challenge to the regional development of Mizoram is posed by the underlying mistrust felt by local populations towards government agencies, engendered by the political favoritism and the misuse of public funds present in the system.

#### Voicing Concerns

Local populations frequently raise their voices against new regulations imposed by hegemonic state projects, which indicates that their voices are "poorly reflected in the formulation of national laws and policies, [and that] they may also receive little consideration in judicial decision making" (Poffenberger 2007, 2). Others (local elites, local political party workers, NGOs, and so on) speak for them, very often misrepresenting and distorting reality to suit their respective interests.

The main contradiction is in the state's "claiming to promote indigeneity, while blaming indigenous practices for the demise of the environment" (Kumar 2008, 139). Finally, discussions of jhum have always been led by actors outside of the jhum space, a practice that reinforces stereotypes and leads to a misunderstanding of the system. The exclusive nature of the state-sponsored policies also erases the jhum cultivators' agency and their voices. The views of the jhum cultivators are always excluded when the discussion is conducted in the language of science; no space is reserved for them to take part in such discourses. We therefore conclude that efforts to locate jhum cultivator agency amid various power coalitions are crucial for scholars currently working on jhum cultivation.

### Bibliography

- Hassan, M. Sajjad. 2006. "Explaining Manipur's Breakdown and Manipur's Peace: The State and Identities in North East India." *Crisis States Research Centre Working Papers Series* 1 (79).
- Jha, Lalit Kumar. 1997. Shifting Cultivation. New Delhi: APH Publishing Corporation.
- Kumar, Sanjeeva. 2008. "Empowering Community or the State: Policy Discourse and Experts in the Community Self Management of Forest in Meghalaya, a State of India." In *Environmental and Forest Governance: The Role of Discourses and Expertise*, edited by Michael Böcher, Lukas Giessen, and Daniela Kleinschmit, 139–59. Göttingen: Universitätsverlag Göttingen.
- Lianzela. 1997. "Effects of Shifting Cultivation on the Environment: With Special Reference to Mizoram." International Journal of Social Economics 24 (7/8/9): 785–90.

<sup>——. 2003. &</sup>quot;Implementation of New Land Use Policy in Mizoram." In *Modernization of the Mizo Society*, edited by Ram Narayan Prasad and Ashok Kumar Agarwal, 145–50. New Delhi: Mittal Publication.

——. 2008. "Political Economy of Mizoram, A Study of MIP." In *Mizoram, Dimensions and Perspectives: Society, Economy, and Polity*, edited by Jagadish K. Patnaik, 140–52. New Delhi: Concept Publishing Company.

- Maithani, B. P. 2005. *Shifting Cultivation in North-East India: Policy Issues and Options.* New Delhi: Mittal, 2005.
- McCall, Anthony Gilchrist. 1980. *The Lushai Hills District Cover*. Tribal Research Institute, Govt. of Mizoram.
- Mizoram. 1989. Mizoram District Gazetteers. Aizawl.

———. 1991. "Evaluation of Aibawk Jhum Control Project: The Main Findings of the Survey during January–February 1991." Aizawl.

------. 2000. NLUP Manual. Aizawl.

- Poffenberger, Mark, ed. 2007. *Indigenous Forest Stewards of Northeast India*. Antioch, CA: Community Forestry International.
- Raman, T. R. S. 2001. "Effect of Slash-and-Burn Shifting Cultivation on Rainforest Birds in Mizoram, Northeast India." *Conservation Biology* 15: 685–98.

Raman, T. R. S. 2000. "Jhum: Shifting Opinions." Seminar 486: 15-18.

- Raman, T. R. S., G. S. Rawat, and A. J. T. Johnsingh. 1998. "Recovery of Tropical Rainforest Avifauna in Relation to Vegetation Succession Following Shifting Cultivation in Mizoram, North-East India." *Journal of Applied Ecology* 35: 214–31.
- Ramakrishnan, P. S., and Suprava Patnaik. 1992. "Jhum: Slash and Burn Cultivation." In *Indigenous Vision: Peoples of India, Attitudes to the Environment*, edited by Geeti Sen, 215–20. New Delhi: Sage Publication & India International.
- Singh, Daman. 2009. "The New Land Use Policy: People and Forest in Mizoram." In *Environmental Issues in India: A Reader*, edited by Mahesh Rangarajan and Bina Agarwal, 298–315. India: Dorling Kindersley.

Sharma, Suresh. 1994. Tribal Identity and the Modern World. New Delhi: Sage Publication.

Vanlalhruaia, H. 2009. "History, Culture, and Worldview: The Traditional Ecological Knowledge of the Lusei." In *Chin: History, Culture and Identity*, edited by K. Robin. New Delhi: Dominant Publishing.

#### About the Authors

Niels Barmeyer has researched indigenous communities of southern Mexico since the mid-1990s. He first came to Chiapas as a human rights activist and worked there for three years as an NGO volunteer and a PhD researcher affiliated with the Center for Investigations in Social Anthropology (CIESAS). He concluded his MA course at the Institute for Ethnology of the Free University of Berlin with an ethnography of a Zapatista Rebel village. He then embarked on a PhD course at the Department of Social Anthropology at the University of Manchester, which he concluded in 2004 with a thesis on the role played by NGOs and solidarity groups in shaping autonomous zones in the rebel-controlled regions of the eastern Chiapas. Since 2008 he has been employed by a German development organization. He works as an indigenous rights advisor in the Zapotec region of the Mexican State of Oaxaca.

**Christoph Bergmann** holds an MA in anthropology and philosophy from Heidelberg University and is currently completing his PhD in the department of Social Anthropology at the South Asia Institute, Heidelberg University. He is employed as a researcher in the interdisciplinary project "Changing Strategies of Resource Use: The Bhotiyas in the High Mountain Border Region of Uttarakhand, India," funded by the German Research Council. He focuses on issues of human-environment interaction, mountain pastoralism, border studies, ethnicity, and ritual practice, with a regional focus on the Central Himalayas.

**Bram Büscher** completed his MA and PhD in political science at the VU University of Amsterdam. His research focuses on issues of conservation, energy, and development in southern Africa. He is currently employed as Associate Professor of Environment and Sustainable Development at the Institute of Social Studies at the Erasmus University in Rotterdam, and as a visiting Associate Professor at the Department of Geography, Environmental Management and Energy Studies of the University of Johannesburg.

**Elise Demeulenaere** has a primary background in biology and ecology, and she holds a PhD in ethnobiology and environmental anthropology from the Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle (Paris). She now works as an anthropologist specializing in environmental issues at the French national research institute CNRS (Centre National de Recherche Scientifique). Her PhD research focused on the local perceptions of the landscape in Konso, southern Ethiopia, a site that has since been designated a UNESCO "cultural landscape." Since 2005 she has been researching a French farmers' movement that is contesting GM plants and trying to revive on-farm production of seeds.

**Stefan Dorondel** holds an MA from the Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgium, a PhD in history and ethnology from the Lucian Blaga University, Sibiu, Romania, and a PhD in agricultural economics from the Humboldt University, Berlin. He is a researcher at the Francisc I. Rainer Institute of Anthropology in Bucharest and the Institute for Southeast European Studies in Bucharest. He is interested in changes in the postsocialist state and in the transformations of the Romanian agrarian landscape. His books include *Water and Death: Funerary Rituals, Water Symbolism and the Structure of the Otherworld among Romanian Peasants* (in Romanian). He co-edited *Between East and West: Studies in Anthropology and Social History.* 

**Martin Gerwin** graduated in geography at the University of Bonn with a diploma thesis entitled "Political Ecology of Forest Use and Property Rights in the Gori Ganga Valley (Uttaranchal, India)." After graduation he joined the Department of Geography at the South Asia Institute at Heidelberg University for his PhD research. He is currently employed as a researcher in the interdisciplinary project "Changing Strategies of Resource Use: The Bhotiyas in the High Mountain Border Region of Uttarakhand, India," funded by the German Research Council. He has specialized in development studies, mountain geography, and natural resource use in the Central Himalayas.

**Shahnaz Kimi Leblhuber** completed her MA in Indian history at the University of Delhi. She is currently working on a PhD in social and cultural anthropology at the University of Vienna, with the working title "Reconstructing the Mizo Identity through Prevailing Customs and Traditions." Her present research focuses on the formation of the Mizo identity from the twenty-first century back to the nineteenth century. She is also interested in the application of nuclear technology to agriculture and human health, and she is employed by the International Atomic Energy Agency, United Nations, Vienna, Austria.

**Wolfgang Kapfhammer** received his MA and PhD in social anthropology from the Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität (LMU), Munich. He is currently a researcher at the Philipps-Universität Marburg. His work focuses on the anthropology of religion and the environment, with a regional focus on the Amazon. In the past he has worked

on evangelical Christianity among Amazonian Indians. His current research project, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, is about man-nature-relations in the context of religious change among the Sateré-Mawé of the Brazilian Amazon (HA 5957/6-2). He is interested in the religious dimension of environmental relations in both indigenous and Western societies.

**Birgit Müller** holds a PhD from Cambridge University and is a senior researcher at the LAIOS-EHESS in Paris. She did fieldwork in postsocialist factories and studied social and environmental movements in Europe and Latin America. She is currently pursuing a multi-sited research project entitled *Food, Property and Power: Agricultural Technologies as Global Policies and Local Practices*, with fieldwork in the FAO and among agricultural producers in Saskatchewan (Canada) and Carazo (Nicaragua). Among her books is *Disenchantment with Market Economics: East Germans and Western Capitalism*.

**Daniel Münster** received his MA and PhD in social anthropology from the LMU in Munich. Currently he is a lecturer at the Institute for Social and Cultural Anthropology at the Martin Luther University in Halle-Wittenberg, Germany. In the past he has worked on postcolonial theory and village politics in Tamil Nadu. His current research focuses on agrarian issues and environmental change in Kerala: in particular, on the epidemic of suicides among smallholder cash-crop farmers and the political economy/ecology of agrarian crisis.

**Ursula Münster** is a postdoctoral research fellow at the Rachel Carson Center and at the Department of Anthropology, LMU Munich. Her current research focuses on the political ecology of forest and wildlife conservation in the Western Ghats of Kerala, South India. She is interested in issues of environmental governance, human-animal interfaces, gender, social and environmental movements, indigenous land rights, post-colonialism, and globalization.

**H. Vanlalhruaia** received his M.Phil and PhD degrees in the Department of History at the University of Hyderabad in India. His research interests are environment history and the history of medicine. He is currently employed as a lecturer in the Department of History at Aizawl North College in Mizoram, India.

*RCC Perspectives* is an interdisciplinary series of papers and essays in environmental history, environmental studies, and related fields. The papers have their roots in the scholarly activities of the Rachel Carson Center for Environment and Society and in current debates in society. They combine thought pieces and fresh empirical research, and they are designed both to further international dialogue and to inspire new perspectives on the complex relationship between nature and culture.

#### perspectives@carsoncenter.lmu.de

Series editors: Christof Mauch Katie Ritson Helmuth Trischler

**Editors:** Brenda Black

Dominic Kotas Katie Ritson Jenny Seifert

All issues of *RCC Perspectives* are available online. To view past issues, and to learn more about the Rachel Carson Center for Environment and Society, please visit www.rachelcarsoncenter.de.

Rachel Carson Center for Environment and Society LMU Munich Leopoldstrasse 11a 80802 Munich GERMANY

Design by Stefan Zinsbacher Cover photo: © Arbyreed via Flickr Printed on recycled ENVIROTOP paper by PAPER UNION GmbH

© Copyright is held by the contributing authors. ISSN 2190-5088

Munich, 2012

Climate Partner<sup>o</sup> printed climate-neutrally

# Around the world, fields and forests are increasingly dominated by the market, mediated by science, and subjected to new modes of transnational environmental governance. This volume of *RCC Perspectives* presents ethnographic insights into the impacts of such environmental globalization. As agriculture seeks new methods to provide for a growing population, and as forest conservation becomes increasingly contested, local and indigenous communities must balance their needs and desires with the demands of a variety of external agents, from academics and bureaucrats to governments and





ISSN 2190-5088